The role of individual physical body measurements and activity on spine kinematics during flexion, lateral bending, twist, and squat tasks in healthy young adults – comparing marker(less) data.

Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Electronics and Communication Engineering by Research

by

Harsh Sharma 20171157 harsh.sharma@research.iiit.ac.in



International Institute of Information Technology Hyderabad - 500 032, INDIA June 2023

Copyright © Harsh Sharma, 2023 All Rights Reserved

International Institute of Information Technology Hyderabad, India

CERTIFICATE

It is certified that the work contained in this thesis, titled "**The role of individual physical body mea**surements and activity on spine kinematics during flexion, lateral bending, twist, and squat tasks in healthy young adults – comparing marker(less) data." by Harsh Sharma, has been carried out under my supervision and is not submitted elsewhere for a degree.

Date

Adviser: Dr. Kavita Vemuri

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my parents Mrs. Mamta Sharma and Mr. Rajesh Sharma

All My Gods

and

My Sister, Miss Mansi Sharma

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Almighty and all the gods who have blessed me with the strength, perseverance, and wisdom to complete my research journey. Their divine guidance and blessings have been a constant source of inspiration and motivation, helping me navigate through the challenges and obstacles that I faced during this journey. I am truly grateful for their blessings and for the opportunity to pursue my academic aspirations. May their divine grace continue to guide and inspire me in all my future endeavors. With that, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my research advisor, Dr. Kavita Vemuri, for her unwavering guidance and support throughout my research journey. Her constant encouragement, insightful feedback, and expertise in the field have been invaluable in shaping my ideas and approach. I am truly fortunate to have had her as my mentor and am grateful for the knowledge and skills I have gained under her tutelage. Thank you, Dr. Vemuri, for your dedication and commitment to my success.

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to my fellow researchers who I have worked with, for their constant support throughout our collaborative research project. Their insightful feedback, constructive criticism, and willingness to share their expertise have been invaluable in shaping the direction and scope of our work. Their dedication and hard work have been an inspiration to me and have played a significant role in the success of our project. I am truly grateful for their contribution and am honored to have had the opportunity to work alongside them. Thank you, Arhant, Supreeth, Ayushi, Bhumika, B. Vaibhaw, Madhukar, Vivek, Sawar, I am extremely grateful that I get to work alongside these peoples through my journey of research in Cognitive Science.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my deep gratitude to IIIT Hyderabad for providing an energetic and supportive research environment, even in the face of the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The college's unwavering commitment to fostering academic excellence, coupled with its proactive measures to ensure the safety and well-being of its students and faculty, have been truly commendable. The seamless transition to online learning and research has been possible due to the college's robust IT infrastructure and the dedicated efforts of the faculty and staff. I am truly grateful for the opportunity to be a part of this vibrant research community and for the support provided by IIIT Hyderabad throughout my academic journey. Thank you, IIIT Hyderabad, for creating a conducive environment for learning and research, even during these trying times.

Lastly, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to my Mother - Mrs. Mamta Sharma, my father - Mr. Rajesh Sharma, my sister - Mansi Sharma, and my friends - Mehul Gupta, Salay Jain

(Rajkumar), Mudit Agarwal, Akash Verma, and all my wingmates. Thank you for your unwavering support throughout my entire academic and research journey.

Abstract

Physical exercises and gross motor skills support the spine and the body's lower extremities. Understanding the relationship between physical characteristics and activity to kinematic properties of the spine has implications for sports, occupational tasks, clinical diagnosis and prognosis. This study aimed to categorize spine kinematics and the lumbopelvic-hip segments from flexion, lateral-bend, twist, and squat exercises by examining the correlations to body-mass index (BMI), waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), and physical activity levels in healthy young adults. The data was collected from a marker-based optoelectronic motion capture setup and a marker-less motion capture with the RGB camera of a standard mobile phone. Comparing the accuracies of the two techniques on the same data set is important to develop inexpensive (RGB camera) diagnostics. Sixty-two participants (40 Male, 22 female) participated in the study. The angular displacement of the spine and knee/hip for each exercise was extracted by vector analysis using a single reference node/marker. The analysis showed no significant correlations of angular displacements values for the four movements with BMI or WHR. The physical activity level of male participants is significantly correlated with angular displacements for the flexion (p<0.001) and lateral-bend (p-value ranges from 0.001-0.04) and weakly correlated (but not significant) for twist exercises. The physical activity level shows a significant correlation for only flexion (p<0.001) in female participants. BMI is negatively correlated in male participants for the squat movement, while WHR and physical activity show positive associations. In the female cohort, a negative correlation with BMI, WHR, and physical activity level is observed for the squat movement. The findings emphasize the critical role of physical activity on musculoskeletal flexibility in young, healthy adults. The angles estimated using both techniques were comparable and significantly correlated across participants and exercises.

Contents

Chapter P			
1	Introduction	1 1 2 3 4	
2	Anatomy of Human Spine and Knee	5 5 6 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 10 12 14 15 16	
3	Techniques for measuring trunk motion kinematics 3.1 Marker-based motion capture techniques 3.1.1 Radiographic imaging 3.1.2 Computed tomography (CT) 3.1.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) 3.1.4 Electromagnetic motion capture techniques 3.1.5 Marker-based motion capture techniques 3.1.6 Comparison between methods 3.2 Marker-less motion capture techniques S.2 Marker-less motion capture techniques Marker-less motion capture techniques	18 19 19 20 21 22 22 24	
	of the spine and knee/hip joint - Marker-based motion capture system	26 26	

		4.1.1	Participants	26				
		4.1.2	Experimental Paradigm	27				
		4.1.3	Data Analysis	30				
			4.1.3.1 Spine Motion Analysis	30				
			4.1.3.2 Knee/Hip Motion Analysis	31				
		4.1.4	Statistical Analysis	32				
	42	Analys	sis of Physical parameters	33				
		421	Descriptive Statistics	33				
		422	Inferential Statistics	33				
		7,2,2	4.2.2.1 Spearman Correlation between BMI WHR and physical activity level	33				
	13	Analys	sis of spine flexion movement	35				
	т.5	Anarys 121		35				
		4.3.1	Information Statistics	35				
		4.3.2	4.2.2.1 Comparative encloses of Angular Displacement in Spine Elevier	26				
			4.3.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Spine Flexion	30				
			4.3.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, wHR and physical activity level with	27				
		. 1	angular displacements of spinal columns in flexion	31				
	4.4	Analys	sis of spine lateral bend movement	39				
		4.4.1		39				
		4.4.2	Inferential Statistics	39				
			4.4.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Spine Lateral Bend	39				
			4.4.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with					
			angular displacements of spinal columns in lateral bend	41				
	4.5	Analys	sis of spine side twist movement	42				
		4.5.1	Descriptive Statistics	43				
		4.5.2	Inferential Statistics	43				
			4.5.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Spine Side twist .	43				
			4.5.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with					
			angular displacements of spinal columns in sidetwist	44				
	4.6	Analys	sis of squats movement	45				
		4.6.1	Descriptive Statistics	46				
		4.6.2	Inferential Statistics	46				
			4.6.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Squats	46				
			4.6.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with					
			angular displacements of hip-knee segment in squats	47				
	4.7	Seed-b	based correlation analysis of participants	49				
	4.8	Interp	retations of Results	49				
		4.8.1	Spine Kinematics	49				
		4.8.2	Knee/hip joint kinematics	51				
			I J					
5	Deve	eloping	a new technique to investigating the role of physical activity level and body build					
	char	naracteristics on the kinematics of the spine and knee/hip joint - Marker-less Single RGB						
	came	era moti	on capture system	52				
	5.1	Metho	dology	52				
		5.1.1	Participants	52				
		5.1.2	Experiment Paradigm	53				
		5.1.3	Data Extraction	53				

CONTENTS

		5.1.4	Data Analysis	54
	5.2	Analys	sis of Spine, knee/hip movement	54
		5.2.1	Spine flexion	54
			5.2.1.1 Comparative analysis between marker-based and marker-less motion	
			capture system	55
		5.2.2	Spine lateral bend	58
			5.2.2.1 Comparative analysis between marker-based and marker-less motion	
			capture system	;9
		5.2.3	Squats	52
			5.2.3.1 Comparative analysis between marker-based and marker-less motion	
			capture system	53
	5.3	Interp	retation of Results $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	55
6	Com	aluciana		-
0		Clusions	,)/ (7
	0.1	Summ	tions on the alter tions for Extension Weak)/
	6.2	Limita	tions and implications for Future work)8
Re	elated	Publica	tions \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	59
••				- 0
Uı	nrelate	ed Publi	cations	0'
Bi	bliogr	aphy.		71
	U			
Re	espons	e to Rev	viewers	37

List of Figures

Figure		
2.1	Lateral view of human Spine structure	6
2.2	Three anatomical planes	9
4.1	The three-dimensional marker-based motion capture setup of 6 Opti-track	28
4.2	Marker placement covering the spinal column. A Velcro strip with retro-reflectors af- fixed was prepared for ease of fixing on the suit	29
4.3	(A) Marker placement covering the spinal column. A Velcro strip with retro-reflectors affixed was prepared for ease of fixing on the suit. The vectors from the selected base marker are shown in the inset and the estimated angle " θ " between both positions. (B) A sample screen shot of the point light capture the initial position and the flexion exercise. (C) Approximation of S-shaped spine curvature using vector analysis. Subset images: (i) Last sensor on the lower back as reference (Base) marker (ii) Position vectors formed by connecting all the markers with the base marker as the origin for the first frame (upright position) (iii) Position vectors in the maximum angular displacement frame relative to the first frame in spine flexion exercise with the base marker as the origin (bent position). (D) Spine lateral-bend with angle notation and axial-rotation exercise, with intermediate base position. (E) Squat exercise with angle notation and intermediate base position.	30
4.4	Sample of the temporal sequence of the spine movement of a participant for 3 trials with respect to each frame for marker-based motion capture system. (A) Spine Flexion (B) Spine Lateral Bend - left and right- three trails each (C) Spine Side Twist (clock and anticlock wise) three trails each (D) Squat exercise	32
4.5	Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters for male subjects	32 34
4.6	Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters for female subjects	34
4.7	Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the three spine segments in flexion exercise. (a) Box plot of spine segments for male participants (b) Box plot of spine segments for female participants	35
4.8	Participant wise distribution of spinal column angles using marker-based motion capture for spine flexion exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.	35
4.9	Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine flexion exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group	36

Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine flexion exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group	37
Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Flexion angles for male subjects	38
Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Flexion angles for female subjects	38
Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the three spine segments in lateral bend exercise. (a) Box plot of spine segments for male participants (b) Box plot of spine segments for female participants.	39
Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine lateral bend exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group	40
Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine lateral bend exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.	41
Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Lateral-bend angles for male subjects	42
Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Lateral-bend angles	12
for female subjects	42
Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine sidetwist exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group	44
Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine sidetwist exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.	44
Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Sidetwist angles for male subjects.	45
Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Sidetwist angles for female subjects.	45
Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the Hip-knee segments in squats exercise. (a) Box plot of hip-knee segments for male participants (b) Box plot of hip-knee segments for famela participants.	16
Participant wise distribution of hip-knee segment angles using marker-based motion capture for squats exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.	46 46
	Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine flexion exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Flexion angles for male subjects

LIST OF FIGURES

4.25	Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in both hip-knee segments for squat exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle	
4.26	distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group	47
	exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.	47
4.27	Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and knee/hip angles for male subjects	18
4.28	Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and knee/hip angles for	40
	female subjects.	49
5.1	Spine flexion, lateral-bend, and squat exercises with intermediate base positions per- formed via an individual	53
5.2	Generated 3D Human skeleton for a single participant in spine flexion exercise: Fitted	55
5.3	3D pose from 2D key-points and Consolidated 3D pose visualized in blender tool The angle estimates for the three spine segments and Flexion exercises (a) Male partic-	54
5 1	ipants, (b) Female participants.	55
3.4	video for spine flexion exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.	55
5.5	Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and marker- bases angular displacement for male participants in spine flexion exercise	56
5.6	Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and marker-	
5.7	bases angular displacement for male participants in spine flexion exercise Generated 3D Human skeleton for a single participant in spine lateral-bend exercise:	57
50	Fitted 3D pose from 2D key-points and Consolidated 3D pose visualized in blender tool.	58
5.8	participants, (b) Female participants.	59
5.9	Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and marker- bases angular displacement for male participants in spine lateral bend exercise	60
5.10	Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and marker-	00
5.11	bases angular displacement for female participants in spine lateral bend exercise Generated 3D Human skeleton for a single participant in squat exercise: Fitted 3D pose	61
5 10	from 2D key-points and Consolidated 3D pose visualized in blender tool.	62
5.12	(b) Female participants. (b) Female participants.	62
5.13	Participant-wise distribution of hip-knee segment angles extracted from the RGB cam-	62
5.14	Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and marker-	03
5 1 5	bases angular displacement for male participants in squat exercise.	64
5.15	bases angular displacement for female participants in squat exercise	65

List of Tables

Table			Page	
4.1	Descriptive statistics of Physical parameters for both male and female participants.			32

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Spine and knee Kinematics

The spinal column is a vital part of the human trunk and the core section of the body. The anatomy and the forces/load applied result in a range of motion (ROM) (Punjabi & White, 1980). Height and weight, the first anthropometric measures, have been used extensively to understand body flexibility, with waist circumference as a better measure of adiposity. ROM studies are crucial to understanding the mechanisms supporting gross motor tasks like bending, moving, sitting, etc.- to complex and fine movements required in sports, gymnastics, yoga, or dance. Measurement of ROM also provides insights into the loss of movement due to hemiplegia caused by a stroke, Parkinson's, spine injury, and osteoporosis (Savic et al., 2018). A more common clinical condition is lower back pain caused due to spine curvature and body weight; the latter has a strong effect on the kinematics of the spine (Onyemaechi et al., 2016; Vismara et al., 2010; Ghasemi & Arjmand, 2021). Though a few studies did not find conclusive proof of the connection (Leboeuf-Yde, 2000; Youdas et al., 1996; Bible et al., 2008; Zander et al., 2018). An important factor is prolonged inactivity or a sedentary lifestyle, which increases body mass and has been reported to predict non-specific lower back pain in young adults as muscle power and strength decrease (Andersen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2009). In a case of cause & effect, as pain increases, one tends to reduce activity, further aggravating the condition. Sitting for long hours, even with high recreational physical activity, can alter Lumbar-pelvic kinematics (Zawadka et al., 2022). A higher BMI and larger waist circumference in early adulthood resulted in an uneven spine curvature (Pavlova et al., 2018) and the Lumbosacral angle, but there was no correlation of spine kinematics to WHR in non-obese males (Oyakhire et al., 2021). Hence, the correlation between BMI, WHR, and physical activity with the kinematics of the entire spine column as a unit needs further exploration.

In addition to the spine, the hip and knee ROM is essential for body-balance and load-bearing. The knee joint bears a lot of stress from daily activities like lifting, kneeling to high-impact sports, jogging, and aerobics. A multi-joint movement supported workout is squat, which activates the appropriate muscle groups with a single manoeuvre (Kim et al., 2021; Wallace et al., 2002; Gabel et al., 2018). This technique applies strain on the knee bones, the hip joints and ankles, with improper methods leading to

lower back pain (Fry et al., 2003; List et al., 2013). But the body-mass squat exercise also strengthens the muscles after injuries (Stuart et al., 1996), helps diagnosis of age-related degradation of the pelvic and knee bones (example: osteoporosis) or in measuring muscle strength, especially the quadriceps femoris (Fujita et al., 2011) in sports training. Hence, the displacement of the hip segment to identify the role of the lumbo-pelvic-hip-knee system needs to be studied.

In our study, we measure the angular displacement of the three spine segments (cervical, thoracic & lumbar) in flexion, lateral-bend, and twist exercises and hip/knee joint angular displacement executed by normal healthy young adults (with no reported lower-back pain). Correlation analysis with BMI, WHR, and physical activity level is applied. We follow the standard marker set proposed by List et al. (2013) and other studies from the Institute of Biomechanics ETH Zurich. An single RGB camera data was also analyzed by extraction of 2D poses (key-points) for all frames using the openpose model (Cao et al., 2017), followed by generation of the 3D skeleton using the ProHMR model (Kolotouros et al., 2021) as the marker-based system has some limitations - portability, cost, higher calibration time, customized space requirement, and trained personnel. We compare the same group's RGB and marker-based motion capture data for accurate estimates and measurement error ranges. The comparative analysis is significant for clinical/human movement science applications with the marker-based data as a reference model. Deriving from earlier observations (for example, Vismara et al., 2010; Ghasemi, M., & Arjmand, N., 2021), we hypothesize that BMI, WHR, and physical activity affect spine ROM in the age group of the cohort recruited for this study.

1.2 Aim of the Study

Although spinal column studies have been reported for individual spine segments, very few studied intersegmental motion of the spine. A 2016 meta-analysis of spine biomechanics studies (Negrini et al., 2016) showed limited studies on the whole trunk focused on inter-intra segmental motion of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar segments. The lumbar segment has been investigated extensively followed by thoracic, but only limited studies on the whole trunk focused on inter-intra segmental motion of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar segments. Furthermore, prolonged inactivity or a sedentary lifestyle, which results in weight gain and has been associated with the occurrence of non-specific lower back pain in young people due to a loss of muscular power and strength, is a major risk factor (Andersen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2009). It is a classic instance of cause and effect: when pain increases, individuals tend to slow down, further aggravating the condition. Regardless of high recreational physical activity, sitting for lengthy periods of time might still affect Lumbar-pelvic kinematics (Zawadka et al., 2022). Therefore, more research is required to determine whether or not body mass index, WHR, and physical activity all influence the kinematics of the spine. Understanding spine biomechanics is important for preventing and managing conditions that affect the spine, such as herniated discs, spinal stenosis, and degenerative disc disease. By understanding the mechanical principles that govern the spine, healthcare

professionals can develop effective treatment plans and rehabilitation programs to help patients recover from spinal injuries and maintain optimal spinal health.

The biomechanics of the hip, thigh muscles and the knee/ankle joints are also essential in analyzing daily activities in addition of spine biomechanics. Studying knee kinematics is essential for understanding knee joint function, developing effective treatment and rehabilitation strategies, and preventing knee injuries. knee kinematics can provide valuable insights into the biomechanical factors that contribute to knee injuries which can also help in the development of effective rehabilitation strategies for knee injuries. Understanding knee kinematics can aid in the design of prosthetic knees that closely mimic the natural knee joint.

The current study focuses on the study of whole spine with respect to intra- and inter-segment motion and hip/knee segment while employing marker-based and marker-less motion capture techniques. To develop a any kinematics model, a comprehensive analysis requires data from the, a) spine alignment and inter/intra segment kinematics with hip/knee segment, b) ROM of the segments, c) body physiological parameters, and d) a non-invasive robust technique. We performed the correlation analysis of angular displacement of spine and knee with the physical parameters such as BMI, WHR, and physical activity level.

When it comes to biomechanical applications, human motion detection, animations, and even for military use, motion capture systems (Opti Track motion capture systems & Vicon) (Nagymáté et al., 2018) are the gold standard. There are various limitations to using this technique, including its inflexibility, expense, lengthy calibration process, need for dedicated space, and need for specially trained personnel. Analysis of marker-based mechanics can be very complex with correlations between muscle markers and those on spine. Therefore, this work introduces a novel technique/method of measuring spine angles, as incorrect skin marker positioning affects curve measurement and kinematic variability (Severijns et al., 2021). Furthermore, an important extension in past studies, the angular displacement of the spine is extracted using multiple reference frame, which can introduce errors in measurement due to incorrect segment identification. With the current study, we have attempted to resolve there errors by introducing an design independent model using single reference frame.

1.3 Scope of the study

The study was conducted on healthy individuals in the 19-33 years (40 males and 22 females) age group. The original plan to collect data from both healthy and lower back pain patients was put on hold due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The main focus of our research is the study of spine and knee kinematics from the angular displacement of the three spine segments and the lumbo-pelvic-hip segments in flexion, lateral-bend, twist and squat exercise executed by normal healthy young adults. To generate a reference chart/model, the angular displacement is correlated to an individual's physical parameters such as height, weight, BMI, waist-to-hip ratio, and physical activity level. Our study followed the

standard marker set proposed by List et al (2013) and other studies from the Institute of Biomechanics ETH Zurich. Comparing the data collected from the same group of participants from two techniques (RGB & marker-based motion capture) would help in better accuracy estimates, error corrections if required, and, significantly, for clinical/human movement science applications with the reference models thus generated. Importantly, the comparison of RGB with motion capture allows for applications of an inexpensive marker-less system for use in clinics backed by robust models.

1.4 Thesis Organization

- This thesis is divided into 6 chapters, and each chapter contains sections aligned to it. The content of *this chapter* covered the elementary studies of spine and knee kinematics, the aim of the study and the scope of the study.
- *Chapter 2*, The study of the structure and mechanics of the spine and knee, including their anatomical structure, biomechanical properties, and mathematical principles.
- *Chapter 3*, Techniques to measuring movement of the truck: encompassing both marker-based and marker-less approaches.
- *Chapter 4*, Spine and knee kinematics analysis using marker-based motion capture system using opti-track opti-electonic cameras.
- *Chapter 5*, Spine and knee kinematics analysis using marker-less motion capture system via single RGB camera.
- *Chapter 5*, Conclusions, summarizes this thesis. It covers practical applications, corresponding limitations, and possible extensions of this work.

Chapter 2

Anatomy of Human Spine and Knee

2.1 Spinal Structure

The spinal column is a vital part of the human trunk and the core section of the body. The spine's flexibility is attributed to elastic ligaments in the spinal column. It comprises of 33 bones called vertebrae divided into five sections: Cervical, Thoracic, Lumbar, Sacrum, and Coccyx, of which cervical, thoracic, and lumbar are well-investigated. A healthy spine has strong muscles and bones, flexible tendons and ligaments, and sensitive nerves. An adult spine exhibits a natural S-shaped curve when viewed from the side. The cervical (neck) and lumbar (low back) areas are slightly concave, whereas the thoracic and sacral regions are gently convex Fig 2.1. The curves absorb shock, maintain balance, and allow a range of motion (ROM) across the spinal column, much like a coiled spring. The spinal muscles play a crucial role in facilitating movement, stability, and proper posture. A good posture is achieved when a balance is struck between reducing the load on the spine and minimizing muscle activity. The upper trapezius and sternocleidomastoid muscles are primarily responsible for movement and stabilization of the neck, while the erector spinae, rectus abdominis, internal and external obliques, psoas major, iliacus, gluteal, and hamstring muscles are primarily responsible for maintaining posture in the lumbosacral region (Standring et al., 2005). Standing, walking, sitting, and lying with good posture puts the least strain on your spine during movement or weight-bearing activities. Excess body weight, weak muscles, and other factors can cause the spine to misalign, such as an improper curve of the lumbar spine is lordosis, also known as swayback; an irregular curve of the thoracic spine is kyphosis, also known as a hunchback, and an abnormal curve from side to side is called scoliosis.



Figure 2.1: Lateral view of human Spine structure

2.1.1 Muscles

The spine muscles are a group of muscles that play a critical role in facilitating movement, stability, and proper posture. These muscles work together to support the spine and enable a range of physical activities, from simple movements like bending and twisting to more complex movements like running and jumping. Extensor and flexor muscles are among the two important groups of muscles which play a vital role in facilitating movement and providing stability in the body. The extensor muscles are responsible for extending or straightening joints, while the flexor muscles are responsible for flexing or bending joints. These muscles work together to enable a wide range of physical activities, from simple movements like walking and reaching to more complex movements like weightlifting and gymnastics. Maintaining strength and flexibility in both the extensor and flexor muscles is essential for preventing injury, improving posture, and enhancing overall physical performance.

2.1.2 Cervical Spine

The cervical spine segment structure refers to the seven vertebrae that make up the cervical spine or neck. Each of these vertebrae is numbered and labeled C1 to C7, starting at the top of the spine near the skull and ending at the base of the neck. The cervical spine is responsible for providing mobility, stability, and support to the head and neck, while also protecting the spinal cord and associated nerves. The cervical spine segment structure includes a range of important structures, such as intervertebral discs, facet joints, ligaments, muscles, and nerves, that work together to facilitate movement and prevent injury. Understanding the structure and function of the cervical spine segment structure is crucial for preventing and managing conditions that affect this area, such as herniated discs, spinal stenosis, and degenerative disc disease.

2.1.3 Thoracic Spine

The thoracic spine segment structure refers to the twelve vertebrae that make up the middle portion of the spine, located between the cervical spine (neck) and the lumbar spine (lower back). These vertebrae are labeled T1 to T[12-15] (depending on the mammal) and are responsible for providing support and stability to the upper body while also protecting the spinal cord and associated nerves. The thoracic spine segment structure also includes important structures such as intervertebral discs, facet joints, ligaments, muscles, and nerves that work together to facilitate movement and prevent injury. Unlike the cervical spine, the thoracic spine is relatively immobile, allowing for more stability but less flexibility. Understanding the structure and function of the thoracic spine segment structure is crucial for preventing and managing conditions that affect this area, such as herniated discs, scoliosis, and osteoporosis.

2.1.4 Lumbar Spine

The lumbar spine segment structure refers to the five vertebrae that make up the lower portion of the spine, located between the thoracic spine (middle back) and the sacrum (pelvis). These vertebrae are labeled L1 to L5 and are responsible for supporting the weight of the upper body, allowing for a wide range of movement, and protecting the spinal cord and associated nerves. The lumbar spine segment structure also includes important structures such as intervertebral discs, facet joints, ligaments, muscles, and nerves that work together to facilitate movement and prevent injury. Due to its weightbearing function and mobility, the lumbar spine is particularly susceptible to injury and conditions such as herniated discs, spinal stenosis, and degenerative disc disease. Understanding the structure and function of the lumbar spine segment structure is crucial for preventing and managing these conditions and maintaining optimal spinal health. Normal lumbar lordosis ranges from 30 to 50 degrees.

2.1.5 Sacrum

The sacrum is a triangular-shaped bone located at the base of the spine, between the two hip bones of the pelvis. It is made up of five fused vertebrae that form a single structure, labeled S1 to S5. The sacrum plays an important role in supporting the weight of the upper body, transmitting it to the pelvis and lower extremities, and providing attachment points for various muscles and ligaments. It also protects the nerves that exit the lower part of the spinal cord and travel to the legs and feet. Conditions that affect the sacrum, such as fractures or arthritis, can cause pain, stiffness, and mobility issues.

2.1.6 Coccygeal

The coccyx, also known as the tailbone, is a small, triangular bone located at the bottom of the spine, below the sacrum. It is made up of three to five fused vertebrae and provides attachment points for various muscles and ligaments. The coccyx also plays a role in supporting the body's weight while sitting and providing protection for the internal organs in the pelvic region. Injuries to the coccyx, such as fractures or dislocations, can cause pain and discomfort, particularly when sitting.

2.1.7 Intervertebral disc

Intervertebral discs are gel-like cushions that sit between adjacent vertebrae in the spine, acting as shock absorbers to distribute forces and allow for movement in the spine. They consist of a tough outer layer called the annulus fibrosus, and a softer inner layer called the nucleus pulposus. The annulus fibrosus helps to contain the nucleus pulposus and withstand compressive forces, while the nucleus pulposus helps to absorb shock and distribute forces throughout the disc. The intervertebral discs play a crucial role in spine kinematics by allowing for controlled and smooth movement between vertebrae, while also protecting the spinal cord and nerves. However, they are also vulnerable to injury and degeneration, which can lead to conditions such as herniated discs and degenerative disc disease. As we get older, our discs lose their ability to reabsorb fluid and become brittle and flatter, which is why as we grow older, we get shorter. Bone spurs (osteophytes) can also be caused by diseases such as osteoarthritis and osteoporosis. Discs can expand or herniate due to injury or strain, causing the nucleus to push out through the annulus, compressing the nerve roots, and causing back discomfort and lower back pain.

2.2 Clinical terminologies in spine kinematics

Some terminologies often used by doctors/researchers in the literature are defined in this thesis to better understand anatomical positions and to define spine biomechanics. These terminologies differ from standard language and scientific definitions in several cases. Specific body planes are frequently used by spine surgeons to simplify three-dimensional (3D) problems into two-dimensional (2D) planes. The spine is divided into vertical and horizontal parts by three main planes (Fig 2.2).

- The Sagittal Plane (also known as the Frontal Plane) divides the spine into two parts: left and right.
- The Coronal Plane (or Median Plane) divides the front and back parts of the spine.
- The axial plane (or transverse plane) divides the upper and lower parts of the spine.



Figure 2.2: Three anatomical planes

In recognition of the superposition of Junghanns' intervertebral mobile segments, the vertebral column can be compared to the flexibility that acts in three perpendicular axes: X, Y, and Z. Translations along these axes, particularly rotations defining the three movements of the vertebral column, are pathogenic when they are over-developed:

- rotation around the transverse X-axis: flexion-extension
- rotation around the vertical Y-axis: true right and left rotation
- rotation around the anteroposterior Z-axis: right and left lateral inclination

As a result, the intervertebral joint has six degrees of freedom (DOF), three DOF in translation, and three DOF in rotation (Lavaste et al., 1997). To fully characterize the spine's location and motion in 3D, there are six degrees of freedom (6DOF), three translational, and three rotational. Furthermore, each DOF's location/motion can be positive or negative about a reference, hence to fully explain the location/motion, twelve terms are required.

DOFs in rotation:

- Forward bending is flexion.
- Backward bending (extension)
- Left/right lateral bending: Bending on the left or right side.
- Torsion/axial rotation (left/right): Left/right twisting (or rotation)

The movements arise in the disc and articular facet joints, which are assimilated into three coaxial joints with no locking position. Ligamentous structures, including the intervertebral disc, and osseous restrictions, are stabilizing mechanisms that can be exceeded under challenging situations, particularly in micro- or macro-trauma.

According to Panjabi, 1978, applying a load to a functional unit of the spine will result in a range of motion that passes through a neutral zone and an elastic zone before peaking. The neutral zone is the region of the intervertebral mobility area closest to rest, where the joint has the largest capacity for movement with the least amount of resistance to intervertebral mobility. Between the end of the neutral zone and the ROM limit, the elastic area correlates to the magnitude of intervertebral mobility. It's important to note that as disc degeneration progresses, the neutral zone and translations expand, indicating instability.

2.3 Spine biomechanics

Spine biomechanics (kinetics & kinematics) is crucial to study as it plays a significant role in human activities from gross motor tasks in daily life – bending, moving, sitting, etc.- to complex movements accomplished in sports, gymnastics, yoga, or dance. The spine is a complex and highly adaptable structure that serves many important functions in the human body, including supporting the weight of the upper body, protecting the spinal cord and nerves, and allowing for movement and flexibility. A 2016 meta-analysis of spine biomechanics studies (Negrini et al., 2016) showed that only a few studies investigated the whole trunk independently and none focused on spinal segments specifically with an emphasis on

intersegmental motion involving the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar segments. Understanding the movements as supported by different trunk segments (Leardini et al., 2011), the range of motion (ROM), the coordination between the lumbar-pelvic system, the inter-vertebral and intersegmental movement in the spine are essential for clinical diagnosis (Robertson & Roby-Brami, 2011; test with Aspen collar: Nicholas Rhys Evans et al., 2013; lower back pain meta-analysis: Laird et al., 2014; Bauer et al., 2015; Scholtes et al., 2009; Lateral bending: Gombatto et al., 2007). For medical research, many in-vivo and in-vitro procedures have been utilized to explore and study spinal segments. Both inter-vertebral and intersegmental motion in the spine is seen in general exercises/combined movements, which are motions that occur in tandem with the primary motions, such as flexion-extension, lateral bending, and sidetwisting. The range of motion for each spinal segment depends upon the contribution of that segment to support the desired movement and hence investigating the contributing factors is of interest to both clinical intervention and daily-life kinematics. Widmer et al (2019) also suggested that experimental factors such as ROM should be examined. Coupled movements are important in detecting intersegmental motion because it might be affected by spinal problems (Lansade et al., 2009). To study coupled motion it should be quantified as angular displacements of spinal columns. The range of spinal motion or degrees of freedom can be estimated by finding the correlation between the physical parameters and the spine flexibility of an individual.

The kinematics of the lumbar (Wong et al., 2004; Li G et al., 2009; for stooping: Zhu X et al., 2013), thoracic & lumbar (Ignasiak et al., 2017), cervical (Bible et al., 2010; Anderst et al., 2014; rotation/lateral bend: Ishii et al., 2004; 2006) has been investigated extensively. Understanding spine dynamics is also crucial for medical conditions affecting motor movements, like hemiplegia caused by a stroke, Parkinson's, lower back pain, spine injury, osteoporosis (Savic et al., 2018), and obesity (Onvemaechi et al., 2016). Less spinal movements in lumbar and thoracic region were found in chronic low back pain patients performing sit to stand exercise (Christe, G. et al., 2017) and lower lumbar spine movement was observed in participants with low back pain during a step-down functional task (Hernandez, A. et al., 2017). Weak correlations were found in upper/lower lumbar during lifting/sitto-stand and strong correlations during walking and lifting (Papi, E. et al., 2019). In addition, upper lumbar angle and greater frontal plane range of motion was found in dancers for the upper lumbar and lower thoracic segments, and no lower back pain was found in any kind of kinematical motion (Swain, C. T. et al., 2019). Another study on the effect of age on thoracic segments of spine (Ignasiak et al., 2017) found that there was simultaneous motion of regions and segments of spine in elderly subjects as compared to the young who flexed the lower spine and hips before thorax and distal thoracic segments before proximal. Wong et al., 2004 analyzed the difference in lumbar spine motion profiles in different genders and age groups by dividing the participants into four groups and observed that the intervertebral flexion-extension (IVFE) curves showed a linear-like pattern in different genders and age groups and there were no statistically significant difference in mobility patterns across genders. However, at all lumbar levels, statistically significant differences in the slope of IVFE curves were found in participants 51 years and older. Zhu X et al. (2013) quantitatively analyzed the effects of various biomechanical

response of prolonged stooping in lower back viscoelasticity under more work-related and unrestrained stooped work postures and loading circumstances, and found that after the stooping work period, the range of lumbar flexion and myoelectric activity of the low back muscles increased significantly (p < 0.05). The low back extensor muscles did not show flexion–relaxation during stooping work.

Vertebral motions are widely assumed as a biomechanical factor of spinal pathology. Cervical spine segments exhibit complex motions in flexion extension, lateral bending, and axial rotations (Ishii et al., 2004; 2006). As the thoracic spine, which serves as a transitional zone between the cervical and lumbar segments, has received less attention in 3D spine kinematics, its examination is essential to have a better understanding of how symptoms appear and the pathophysiology of spinal illnesses. The range of motion of the thoracic segment is less than the range of motion of other spine sections (Fujimori et al., 2014). Intervertebral motion during exercises such flexion-extension, left-right bending, and left-right twisting has been studied for the Lumbar segment (Li G et al., 2009). Spine flexion can be done in both free motion and with a pelvic constraint. According to Larson et al. (2019), the pelvic constraint did not affect any specific lumbar intersegmental level. Furthermore, they discovered that the differences in whole lumbar spine ROM in the pelvic constrained condition were not statistically significant, implying that spine motion was similar in both movement conditions because the pelvic constraint did not affect lumbar intersegmental spine ROM during spine flexion. Similarly, Beaudette et al. (2020) found that changes in gaze and head orientation while performing spine flexion movement, have similar effects on the ROM of the spine regions, independent of the movement constraints involved. As a result, the current study did not include a pelvic constraint condition in the spine flexion exercise. Despite significant advances in our understanding of the individual segments of the human spine during dynamic motions, the intersegmental vertebral motion during dynamic human body activities remains unclear. Except for Zhu X et al. (2013), who investigated the kinematics and muscular activity for the lumbar spine in stooping postures, very few research studies has evaluated realistic and more natural work situations with human volunteers to investigate their biomechanical responses.

2.4 Knee/hip joint anatomy and biomechanics

Knee biomechanics is the study of the mechanical principles that govern the movement, stability, and load-bearing capacity of the knee joint. Knee biomechanics is a complex field that has been the subject of extensive research over the past several decades. One area of interest has been the role of the knee joint in dynamic movement, such as running and jumping. Research has shown that during dynamic movements, the knee joint experiences large forces and moments that can lead to injury if not properly controlled (Besier et al., 2009).

The knee is a complex joint that connects the thigh bone (femur) to the shin bone (tibia) and is supported by many different ligaments, tendons, and muscles. The ability to carry out daily activities is facilitated by the knee joint which is a complex structure made up of multiple components that function collectively to enable proper movement of the knee. The capacity of the knee joint to withstand heavy loads is mainly due to the bones involved in its formation. The quadriceps and hamstrings are the primary muscles responsible for controlling the movement of the knee joint during dynamic movements. Several studies have investigated the role of these muscles in knee biomechanics. For example, Fukuda et al. (2010) used motion capture and electromyography to study the activation patterns of the quadriceps and hamstrings during jumping and landing. They found that the hamstrings played an important role in controlling knee flexion during landing, while the quadriceps were more active during the propulsion phase of jumping.

The knee joint is a complex structure that can be affected by various factors, including muscle weakness, degeneration, ligament damage, and osteoarthritis. The degeneration of knee cartilage is becoming increasingly common in our modern society, and this can be attributed to a range of factors, including age, diet, genetics, injury, and lifestyle. Additionally, the constant strain placed on the knee during physical activity can lead to the gradual breakdown of cartilage over time (Driban et al., 2017). However, restoring damaged cartilage is not an easy task, as the knee joint's intricate anatomy makes it challenging for patients, surgeons, and physical therapists to facilitate cartilage regeneration once it has been lost (Sophia et al., 2009). Overall, the study of knee biomechanics is important for preventing and managing knee injuries and conditions. By understanding the mechanical principles that govern knee movement and stability, healthcare professionals can develop effective treatment plans and rehabilitation programs for individuals with knee injuries or conditions.

From a clinical standpoint, measuring knee joint angle is a fundamental and crucial approach for both diagnosing knee deficits and tracking treatment progress. Kneeling and squatting are examples of common actions that require deep knee flexion (D'Lima et al., 2007). A multi-joint movement supported workout is squat, which activates the appropriate muscle groups with a single manoeuvre (Kim et al., 2021; Wallace et al., 2002; Gabel et al., 2018). This technique applies strain on the knee bones, the hip joints and ankles, with improper methods leading to lower back pain (Fry et al., 2003; List et al., 2013). Squat exercises are widely used in sports and rehabilitation settings for lower extremity strengthening and conditioning. Several studies have investigated the knee kinematics during squat exercises to better understand the joint mechanics and injury risks associated with these movements. Kim et al., 2015 used kinematic analysis to examine the relationship between the range of motion of the hip, knee, and ankle joints and the capacity to execute squats of different depths with heels lifted from the ground. Fry et al. (2003) analyzed knee kinematics during the back squat exercise using motion analysis. They found that the knee joint underwent substantial flexion and extension throughout the movement, with the greatest knee flexion occurring at the bottom of the squat. They also observed significant differences in knee kinematics between the high-bar and low-bar squat variations. In the past, studies have explored various attributes of deep squat exercises. For instance, Butler and colleagues (2010) examined whether there were unique biomechanical approaches used by individuals who scored differently on the deep squat test of the Functional Movement Screen. Flanagan et al. (2008) investigated the effects of squat depth on knee kinematics and muscle activation patterns. They found that deeper squat depths resulted in greater knee flexion and quadriceps muscle activation, while shallower squat depths resulted in greater knee

extension and gluteal muscle activation. Paoli et al. (2009), compared front and back squat exercises and found that, the back squat resulted in significantly greater knee flexion, while the front squat resulted in significantly greater knee extension. They also observed that the front squat placed more demand on the quadriceps muscles, while the back squat placed more demand on the gluteal muscles. These all past studies demonstrate that knee kinematics during squat exercises vary depending on the specific exercise variation, depth, and experience level of the subject. Proper form and technique during squats are essential for minimizing knee injury risks and maximizing training benefits.

2.5 Different angle extraction method in spine kinematics or Kinematics

In this section, two approaches to calculating spine angular displacement have been discussed, with their advantages and disadvantages. Kinematics is the study of objects' motion without considering the masses or forces that cause the motion. Linear kinematics is the simplest form, whereas rotational kinematics is a little more difficult to implement. Kinematics involving translation and rotation can be used to describe the state of a rigid body (rigid-body kinematics). Human movements are generally modeled with multi-segmental models, which consist of rigid bodies joined by joints with variable degrees of freedom.

In general, the rotation and translation of a rigid body in space can be used to characterize its movement relative to a global reference system. The 3D rotation matrix, R, defines the rotation, and the 3D translation vector v, defines the translation. There are various techniques available to break down the physical properties of R and v into an interpretable representation. Instead of using a global reference system, body segment movements are usually measured relative to each other. For example, the movement of the upper arm in relation to the upper body is described in terms of flexion and extension. In clinical settings, the Euler method is commonly employed to analyze R, which breaks it down into angles that describe flexion-extension, abduction-adduction, and internal-external rotation. To determine joint translation, the helical axis method is frequently used. This technique describes the movement of a segment using a rotation angle around an axis, along with a scalar translation along the same axis that can move in space. (Zatsiorsky, 1998: Kinematics of Human Motion. Pennsylvania: Human Kinetics Pub.)

Sagittal, frontal, and transverse planes are the three anatomical planes in which the spine moves. The cervical, thoracic, lumbar, and sacral are spinal regions that are separated based on their curvature. Flexion/extension refers to spinal rotations that occur in the sagittal plane. The range of lumbar flexion/extension is from kyphotic to lordotic, with a neutral posture being slightly lordotic. Left/right lateral bending is lumbar rotation in the frontal plane, while left/right axial rotation is lumbar rotation in the transverse plane.

2.5.1 Angle Calculation method: Euler Angles and Euler/Cardan Sequences

A multitude of approaches can be used to describe three-dimensional joint motion. A few standard methods include Euler angles, helical axes, and projection planes. Even while standards for kinematic analysis are being established, the choice of kinematic analysis method varies across research studies and groups. Despite the limitations of other methods, Euler angles continue to be the most popular method in biomechanics due to their simple numerical description and reduced susceptibility to noise. Euler angles are a set of three angles that describe how the orientation of an object changes relative to a fixed coordinate system. These three angles are determined by a sequence of three rotations around the axes of the fixed coordinate system to express the change from the initial orientation to the final orientation. A YXZ sequence, for example, describes an orientation change by first rotating the local coordinate axis around its y-axis by R_y , followed by R_x rotation around the reoriented x-axis, and finally R_z rotation around the final z-axis. Roll, pitch, and yaw are the most commonly used terms for these angles. In human motion studies, these angles are typically defined as flexion/extension in the sagittal plane, lateral rotation in the frontal plane, and axial rotation in the transverse plane. Rotation matrices are used to model rotation around each axis as,

$$R_x = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos\alpha & -\sin\alpha \\ 0 & \sin\alpha & \cos\alpha \end{pmatrix} \qquad R_y = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\beta & 0 & \sin\beta \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -\sin\beta & 0 & \cos\beta \end{pmatrix} \qquad R_z = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\gamma & -\sin\gamma & 0 \\ \sin\gamma & \cos\gamma & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.1)

The 3x3 matrix obtained from the ordered multiplication of the three rotation matrices is used to extract Euler angles,

$$R_{xyz} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\beta \cos\gamma + \sin\alpha \sin\beta \sin\gamma & \sin\alpha \sin\beta \cos\gamma - \cos\beta \sin\gamma & \cos\alpha \sin\beta \\ \cos\alpha \sin\gamma & \cos\alpha \cos\gamma & -\sin\alpha \\ \sin\alpha \cos\beta \sin\gamma - \sin\beta \cos\gamma & \sin\alpha \cos\beta \cos\gamma + \sin\beta \sin\gamma & \cos\alpha \cos\beta \end{pmatrix}$$

from which the values for Euler angles α , β , and γ may be extracted: For α ,

$$\alpha = -sin^{-1}(R_{xyz}(2,3))$$

For β ,

$$\frac{(R_{xyz}(1,3))}{(R_{xyz}(3,3))} = \frac{\cos\alpha \ \sin\beta}{\cos\alpha \ \cos\beta} = tan\beta$$

which leads to,

$$\beta = tan^{-1} \frac{(R_{xyz}(1,3))}{(R_{xyz}(3,3))}$$

Similarly for γ ,

$$\frac{(R_{xyz}(2,1))}{(R_{xyz}(2,2))} = \frac{\cos\alpha \ \sin\gamma}{\cos\alpha \ \cos\gamma} = tan\gamma$$

which leads to,

$$\gamma = tan^{-1} \frac{(R_{xyz}(2,1))}{(R_{xyz}(2,2))}$$

The Cardan sequences represent a specific category of Euler sequences. While the Euler angles can be produced by any combination of the three axes, the Cardan angles are created by strict combinations of rotations around three perpendicular axes. Therefore, there are only six Cardan sequences available, such as XYZ, XZY, YXZ, YZX, ZXY, and ZYX. The selection of different Euler/Cardan sequences (Crawford et al., 1996; Skalli et al., 1995) can lead to variations in angular motion values. Some efforts have been made to standardize Euler/Cardan sequences for different joints, but the adoption of these standards is not uniform across the field. Furthermore, different definitions of coordinate axes add to the confusion and inconsistency among recommendations and studies. Using this method, Euler/Cardan sequence(s) and coordinate axes definitions must thus always be reported in kinematic studies.

Aside from the effect of sequence selection, another flaw associated with the use of Euler angles is the occurrence of a gimbal lock. When one axis crosses another parallelly, the gimbal lock effect causes an axis description to be lost. Gimbal lock occurs most frequently when the middle rotation approaches 90° (Crawford et al., 1996; Skalli et al., 1995). According to kinematics studies of the output Euler angles, this appears to be an instantaneous jump of a multiple of $\pm 90^{\circ}$: common values of gimbal lock jumps include $\pm 90^{\circ}$, $\pm 180^{\circ}$, and $\pm 360^{\circ}$. As a result, to avoid gimbal lock situations, you must orient the local references systems. It is crucial to align the reference system accurately with the body segments to avoid the overlapping of abduction/adduction and inward/outward rotation in the calculated flexion. In addition, one limitation of utilizing Euler angles is that the handling of translation is separate from the handling of rotation. To overcome this limitation, the helical axis transformation can be utilized to combine the treatment of translation and rotation within the model.

2.5.2 Angle Calculation method: Helical axis method

To describe the movement of a body in three dimensions, it can be separated into two parts: rotation around and translation along the instantaneous axis of rotation. The helical axis is identified by a unit direction vector, n, and a point c on the axis that satisfies $c^T n = 0$. This axis is not stationary but is defined by its direction and point, and it's known as the screw axis or the axis of motion. The movement can be characterized by the angle of rotation, θ , around the helical axis, and a scalar translation, t, along it. This method of describing movement is known as the helical axis method and has been studied by various researchers, including Spoor et al. (1980), Woltring et al. (1985), and Woltring et al. (1994).

A method of extracting helical axis characteristics from the R and v values involves defining a matrix U that satisfies the condition $U = R^T - R$ (Söderkvist, 1990). This relationship can be demonstrated to hold true:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{n} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{U_{23}^2 + U_{31}^2 + U_{12}^2}} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} U_{23} \\ U_{31} \\ U_{12} \end{bmatrix} \\ \theta &= \begin{cases} \cos^{-1}(\frac{R_{11} + R_{22} + R_{33} - 1}{2}) \\ \sin^{-1}(\sqrt{U_{23}^2 + U_{31}^2 + U_{12}^2}) \\ \sin^{-1}(\sqrt{U_{23}^2 + U_{31}^2 + U_{12}^2}) \end{cases} \\ c &= \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{2\sin^2\theta} \cdot (I - R^T) v \\ t &= n^T v \end{split}$$

The method of helical axis can be advantageous in analyzing joint translations, as it enables the axis to have the flexibility to move throughout space. This provides an opportunity to examine the actual movement of the joint's center by identifying the intersection of at least two instantaneous helical axes from two different points. However, a disadvantage of this method is that errors in the orientation and location of the helical axis are significant for small rotations because they are inversely proportional to the rotational magnitude (Woltring et al., 1985). Another disadvantage is that interpreting the movement clinically, such as determining the amount of flexion, is more challenging than when using the Euler representation.

Chapter 3

Techniques for measuring trunk motion kinematics

Inclinometers, goniometers, and motion capture devices can all be used to measure spinal and knee/hip range of motion (ROM) at the skin's surface. Lower back pain can be diagnosed with the help of these measurements in the clinical setting. However, they do not provide information on the vertebrae's locations or rotational orientation; they can only measure motion in a specific body region (Fritz et al. 2005; Burdett et al. 1986). Individual vertebral positions and orientations can only be determined by measuring the individual vertebrae. Measurements are classified as in vivo or in vitro. In vitro measurements use a piece of the original anatomy extracted from a cadaveric specimen, whereas in vivo measurements are carried out on living subjects. Vitro measurement has the apparent advantage of removing obstructing tissues and bones, allowing direct access to the anatomy of interest. This allows for direct measurements can be used to isolate and alter specific anatomical regions in controlled conditions (Brown et al. 2002).

In vivo measurements, while limiting access to the vertebrae, provides motion parameters that have not been affected by dissection or loss of active muscle contribution and can be categorized as invasive or noninvasive. Currently, there aren't many examples of noninvasive in vivo measurements due to practical and ethical constraints and limitations. Kaigle et al. (1992) performed invasive in vivo vertebral measuring by inserting bone pins into neighboring vertebral spinous processes via the skin. While this approach provides for a more direct examination of human joint motion, the research settings may produce anomalous findings due to pain and discomfort and increased motion resistance caused by the interaction of the bone pins and the tissue at the insertion location.

An overview of several methods for collecting the static and dynamic spine-knee/hip kinematics data is provided in this chapter. The reliability and validation tests and the benefits and drawbacks of each approach will be examined.

3.1 Marker-based motion capture techniques

3.1.1 Radiographic imaging

Planar radiography pictures were previously used to study the trunk's kinematics (Dvorák et al., 1991). Spinal measurements can be made via medical imaging, which provides comprehensive images of the anatomical components beneath the skin. Radiographic methods, such as traditional x-ray imaging, create images by sending an electromagnetic radiation beam through the object of interest. The fraction of the beam that is not absorbed or dispersed by the object produces an exposure image on the object's opposing side. Radiography is particularly useful for examining bone geometry, but it exposes individuals to ionizing radiation, which is a known health concern. Planar radiographs have been widely utilized to assess sagittal plane vertebral rotation and translation (Allbrook 1957;Pearcy & Bogduk 1988). The analysis was confined to one plane of motion, and the motion was determined by tracing a vertebra and comparing it to other images captured from different angles. Coupled motions were not observable since this approach only gave data about one plane of motion at a time. Pearcy et al.(1985) integrated two radiographs to generate three-dimensional information on spinal ROM, although only static data were evaluated. Cineradiography and videofluoroscopy (Harada et al., 2000) have been used to evaluate dynamic trunk movement (Adams et al., 1988).

However, limitations include picture distortion effects caused by radiography beam divergence, which must be addressed during data processing (Frobin et al. 1996). The most significant consequence of radiographic techniques is radiation exposure, especially in multiple planar radiography and cineradiography, when participants are exposed to relatively high levels of radiation. The amount of radiography tests and/or treatments performed over time may be connected to the risks of radiation exposure. Fluoroscopy is a modification of traditional planar radiography that allows for dynamic realtime imaging by focussing a continuous x-ray beam onto a fluoroscopic screen. Fluoroscopy has been employed in various studies to measure vertebral kinematics, even though it offers a higher cumulative dose of radiation and needs extensive data processing work due to the increased volume of imaging data, which degrades picture quality (Teyhen et al. 2007; Ahmadi et al. 2009).

3.1.2 Computed tomography (CT)

Computed tomography (CT) is a medical imaging technique that uses X-rays to produce detailed images of the body's internal structures. CT has been used for many years in the study of spine kinematics. It can provide high-resolution images of the spine in different positions, allowing for detailed analysis of vertebral motion. One of the advantage of CT for spine kinematics analysis is its high spatial resolution, which allows for accurate measurements of small changes in vertebral position and angle. CT can also provide images in multiple planes, allowing for analysis of motion in different directions. Additionally, CT can be used to generate three-dimensional (3D) models of the spine, which can aid in the visualization and analysis of complex spinal motion patterns from bone and soft tissues. The capacity to evaluate non-planar motion is a crucial advantage of collecting three-dimensional (3D) spinal data. CT involves more ionizing radiation than standard x-ray imaging, limiting its usage in elective research (Brenner Hall 2007). To prevent unnecessary radiation exposure, computed tomography (CT) has fewer applications in clinical research than traditional x-rays (Brenner Hall 2007). CT's high spatial-resolution capabilities are useful for examining minor displacements during axial lumbar rotation, despite its limited usage for measuring bony spine anatomy (Ochia et al., 2006).

3.1.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

A magnetic field is used in MRI to produce three-dimensional anatomical images. A magnetic field of intensity 0.3-3 Tesla is directed across the area of interest, causing polar magnetic alignment within the field's atomic nuclei. The magnetically aligned states revert to lower energy equilibrium states once the magnetic field is removed (relaxed) and generates radio-frequency waves. Tissues with various relaxation times emit various frequencies, allowing the bone and soft tissues to be visually distinguished. The 3D location and orientation of all the vertebrae in vivo have been widely studied using MR imaging. Participants must lie prone or supine for the duration of the imaging process in order to comply with traditional MRI image gathering requirements, which restricts the range of motion and changes the natural direction of gravity compared to standing postures. Fujii et al. (2007) built a rotating hip device that allowed imaging at fixed axial rotations to approximate natural rotations in the prone position. This arrangement, however, is incapable of accounting for gravitational influences. Traditional MRI's inability to record spine images in an axial loading posture is addressed by adding a non-restrictive image capture volume in the weight-bearing MRI technique. Weight-bearing magnetic resonance imaging can be obtained when the person is standing and under normal gravity loads. Furthermore, an increased field of view allows for a wide range of motion for most joints. Weight-bearing MR images, like conventional MRI, are confined to static positions, and participants must stay motionless during collection since movement generates artifacts in the image. Weight-bearing MRI has less imaging power than conventional MRI, resulting in a poorer degree of detail.

MRI provides 3D information through a sequence of planar image slices that span the volume of interest. Image slices may be segmented into volumes of interest called segmentation. Each image slice must be analyzed to find the regions of interest that match those in the previous one. The quality and clarity of the images have a significant role in the speed and accuracy of segmentation. The selection of areas of interest in high-contrast images with well-defined boundaries can be automated with identification algorithms. However, segmenting the vertebrae is particularly difficult since the soft tissues surrounding the bone reduces contrast and definition along the bone's edge. MR images generated by 1.5 Tesla or more equipment have often been segmented using automated methods (Carballido-Gamio et al.,2004;Huang et al.,2009).

MR images produced by lower-powered MRI equipment sometimes need manual region identification. Manual segmentation is time-consuming and susceptible to rater error. However, investigations have proven the ability of expert raters to correctly rebuild vertebral bodies based on visual recognition (Cargill et al., 2007). The difficulty of quickly and precisely segmenting low-quality MR images limits data analysis capabilities. Active research is being conducted to develop noise-insensitive segmentation capabilities. Both Schmid and Magnenat-Thalmann (2008) and Strickland et al. (2011) used shape recognition to improve border detection approaches for automatic segmentation. Manual segmentation will be required until these approaches are developed and sufficient for low-energy devices. Manual segmentation was superior to two automated approaches in Cargill et al. (2007)'s study.

3.1.4 Electromagnetic motion capture system

The kinematics of the spine can be measured in three dimensions using an electromagnetic motion tracking device, which is portable and easy to use. This system is a combination mostly of two components: the transmitter and the receiver, both of which are coupled to an electronic system unit. When a transmitter generates an electromagnetic field, the receiver uses it as a point of reference for its location. Detecting the field created by the transmitter, the receiver emits a signal that is used in a mathematical algorithm to compute the receiver's position. Also, detecting the position of more than one receiver at once is possible. According to reported data, this particular technique has a static accuracy of 0.8 mm for position and 0.15° orientations in terms of root mean square (RMS) values. This method has proven to be effective in kinematic investigations, as demonstrated by previous research (An et al., 1988). Furthermore, Mills et al. (2007) conducted a study on the repeatability of dynamic motion measurements using an electromagnetic system while walking, which demonstrated strong reliability within the same trial, within a single day between different testers, and between different days with the same tester. Burnett et al. (1998) also found high repeatability in spinal motion measurement during fast bowlers in cricket. Finally, Pearcy and Hindle (1989) discovered that the total RMS error for dynamic measurements of spinal rotation was less than 0.2°.

At the level of the first lumbar vertebrae and first sacral vertebrae, sensors were placed to analyze lumbar spine motions (Shum et al.,2005a;2005b,;2007a, Van Herp et al., 2000, Wong and Lee, 2004) In this way, the kinematics of the lumbosacral were studied. Additional data on lumbar spine behavior might be obtained by increasing the number of sensors, but this would make analysis more difficult. One of the system's greatest drawbacks is its limited operational range. Although the manufacturer's report stated that the maximum distance between the receiver and transmitter was 3.05 meters, several studies demonstrated that this functioning zone was substantially narrower, with Milne et al. (1996) result revealing a cubic region about 220-720 mm3 from the source. This value is manufacturer dependant, although validation tests are advised to validate the functioning zone. Another drawback of this method is that it is sensitive to metal-interference. The presence of metal in the testing environment may impact the measurement and limit the functional range (Milne et al., 1996). Compared to radiography techniques, the electromagnetic system was shown to be accurate and less risky for biomechanical research. Furthermore, the technology is less expensive than competing methods, such as video-optical motion capture.

3.1.5 Marker-based motion capture techniques

Motion capture systems (Nagymáté et al., 2018) are widely used for biomechanical applications, human motion detection, animations and military purposes. Three-dimensional camera-based motion capture is broadly acknowledged as the gold standard for capturing and analyzing kinematic performance (McLean, S. G. et al., 2005). Traditional 3D motion capture uses several high-speed cameras that generate 3D coordinates based on point triangulation from distinct two-dimensional (2D) camera projections (Mündermann L. et al., 2006). Active or passive markers are used in the system. Each camera emits IR light at a predetermined pulse frequency in a passive marker system. Each camera captures a two-dimensional image of the light reflected by the markers attached to the body segments. The 2D data from each camera is transformed into 3D coordinate data through a calibration technique. Markers that produce a signal, such as infrared light, are active markers. Each marker has a unique frequency that can be easily detected during movement registration (Nigg et al., 2007). The most common system used is a passive optical system in which infrared cameras track retroreflective markers. Two such motion capture system are Vicon (Vicon, Oxford UK) motion capture system which uses cameras to record up to 120 frames per second (fps) at 16mp (maximum 2000fps) and has an estimated accuracy error of less than 2mm (Merriaux, P. et. al., 2017) and Opti-Track motion capture system which uses cameras capable of collecting 240fps (positional errors less than +/-0.30mm; rotational errors smaller than 0.5 degrees) (Nagymáté, G., et al., 2018). For kinematic studies, optoelectronic tracking (Vismara et al., 2010; Feng et al., 2019; Ghasemi, M., & Arjmand, N., 2021) of the spine in movement is considered highly accurate. Other system for example, active optical systems can record infrared light from 'active' markers (such as those with LEDs). The trunk kinematics of gait analysis can also be analyzed using video optical systems (VOS) (Crosbie et al., 1997). These types of systems have been utilized in various applications such as the assessment of lateral and forward bends in standing (Al-Eisa et al., 2006; Esola et al., 1996) and sitting (Al-Eisa et al., 2006) positions, as well as evaluating balancing strategies while sitting (Van Daele et al., 2009). By incorporating a force platform, a reference position can be used to conduct motion studies and determine joint moment. Manufacturers of these systems claim high accuracy in all three axes of motion, however, Windolf et al. (2008) discovered that the precision is dependent on the task, environment, and set-up, with an inaccuracy of up to 0.42 mm observed during systematic testing. Accuracy was further assessed by comparing radiograph data, which revealed that the optical system had minimal error in all three planes of motion (maximum error of $\pm 2^{\circ}$ and root mean square (RMS) error of less than 1°) (Pearcy et al., 1987).

3.1.6 Comparison between methods

3D models are required to determine the angular displacements of each section using 3D motion analysis. Estimation of intersegmental spinal motion used techniques such as Magnetic Resonance Imaging (Saifuddin et al., 2003), CT scan, MRI, X-Ray, and skin-mounted systems (Severijns et al., 2021). Vicon
- Motion Capture systems, Kinect sensors, BTS bioengineering, and optoelectronic systems are some of the sensing systems utilized for motion analysis.

MRI and CT both have their advantages and disadvantages when it comes to studying the biomechanics of the spine. Bony structures may be automatically segmented with better picture quality using CT scans. Human eyes and manual work are still required to segment MR models, which is timeconsuming. CT scans' enhanced picture quality of bone structures came at a high radiation expense. This raises ethical concerns about the safety of the subjects being studied. Furthermore, MRI allows for enhanced imaging of the ligamentous and soft tissues surrounding the vertebra and their relationship to significant neurologic structures in this area, which may aid in the evaluation of subject-specific spine health/degeneration. Although radiographic have been used to examine spinal motion, they have proven to be more beneficial for static measurements and carry major health hazards for the participants.

In biomechanics, where kinematics of the human body are investigated, electromagnetic and videooptical systems are becoming popular. It has been proven that all of these methods can accurately evaluate trunk kinematics. However, all of these approaches are limited by various factors that make them useful for different situations.

For intervertebral motion, an in-vitro experiment compared the electromagnetic motion system with lateral radiography, and the findings indicated only minor differences in the sagittal plane rotation (0.47±0.24°) between the two approaches (Zhao et al., 2005). In addition, when compared to radiography methods, Yang et al. (2005) discovered that measuring the spinal angle with an electromagnetic device was reliable. Radiographic images show a relative motion error of less than 8% when compared to skin sensors attached to the back skin of the spine (Yang et al., 2008). Bull and McGregor (2000) discovered an average measuring error of $\pm 1^{\circ}$ when they used MRI imaging to examine the error owing to relative motion between the skin (where the sensor is positioned) and the vertebrae in spinal flexion/extension. Video-optical motion systems have also been compared to electromagnetic devices. To test the dependability of optical and electromagnetic motion systems, Hassan et al. (2007) used a mechanical arm. It was found that the three planes of motion differed by 0.15°, -0.32°, and 0.54° between the electromagnetic and video-optical systems, indicating a high degree of similarity between the two techniques. Zwambag et al., 2018 devised a method for recording 3D Intersegmental Angular kinematics during dynamic spine movements with a higher spatial resolution that could be used for detecting intersegmental motion patterns, stiffness, and stability. This study compared the electromagnetic and intersegmental methods and found that both techniques had an excellent agreement. In recent decades, researchers have used optoelectronic motion analysis to examine the neurophysiological and biomechanical underpinnings of human posture and movement to create a biomechanical spine model. Most investigations of coupled motion in the cervical spine focus on intervertebral motion and are confined to MRI and CT imaging. (Feng et al., 2019) demonstrated that optical motion capture techniques for evaluating the cervical range of motion have good repeatability and validity. Different optoelectronic technologies have commonly been used to monitor/record trunk kinematics in various methods, with two to nine cameras being used in most cases. In conclusion, a video-optical method is more useful for

research that can be performed in a laboratory environment, for this reason, this method has been used for data collection in our study.

Although, the video-optical method has various limitations, such as portability, expensive, higher calibration time, and physical customized space requirement, in addition to trained personnel. A significant challenge with the marker-based optoelectronic method for the spine is that its structure can be modeled as rigid or deformable as motion is dependent on its adjacent segments. Hence, incorrect skin marker placement impacts the spine's curve measurement and kinematic variability (Severijns et al., 2021). Minute errors in marker misplacements are usually smoothened out using polynomial fit, which quantifies the quality of spine movement and ensures continuity in the arrangement of the spinal column. The internal spinal alignment can be predicted using a cubic polynomial (Zwambag et al., 2018), fourth-order polynomial (Schmid et al., 2021), fifth-order polynomial (Ranavolo et al., 2013; Severijns et al., 2021), and 6th order polynomial (Taylor et al., 2010). The shape estimation of the spinal curve using these polynomial fits investigated the changes due to lower back discomfort (Taylor et al., 2010) and spinal deformity (Severijns et al., 2020). Ignasiak et al. (2017) used cubic polynomial to approximate the S-shaped spinal curve for age-related changes. Zwambag et al. (2018) applied a similar fit to compare the accuracy of the marker-based Opti-track motion capture system and the traditional electromagnetic system.

3.2 Marker-less motion capture techniques

The marker-based technique has various limitations, such as portability, expensive, higher calibration time, and physical customized space requirement, in addition to trained personnel. A significant challenge with the marker-based optoelectronic method for the spine is its structure can be modelled as a rigid or deformable structure as motion is dependent on its adjacent segments. Hence, incorrect skin marker placement impacts the spine's curve measurement and kinematic variability (Severijns et al.,2021). Practicable alternatives and inexpensive instruments are hence required by the health professionals for the motion assessment.

Researchers developed marker-less motion capture techniques that predict motion in broader scenes using multi-view video (Moeslund et al., 2006), with more recent solutions being real-time (Stoll et al., 2011). This was done because commercial systems that required marker suits have usability constraints (Menache, 2000). Recently, markerless solutions that do not require the placing of markers on anatomical landmarks have been developed. These systems provide a more streamlined data capture method and are less prone to measurement error generated by marker movement related to skin movement or soft tissue artifact, a known drawback of marker-based systems (Sati, M. et al.,;, Corazza, S., et al.,). Markerless systems rely on complicated tracking algorithms to provide a 3D representation of the subject (Corazza, S. et al.,).

Applications such as 3D game character control, immersive virtual and augmented reality, and human-computer interaction have led to the development of new real-time full-body motion estimation

methods using only a single, easy to install, depth camera, such as with the Microsoft Kinect (Microsoft Corporation 2010, 2013, 2015). Cameras using RGB-D sensors give crucial depth information that substantially helps monocular posture reconstruction and have comparable accuracy (Puthenveetil et al., 2013). Despite this, RGB-D cameras are less common and more expensive with higher power consumption; they have poorer resolution and a lower dynamic range when used outside (due to interference from sunlight).

When working with only a single color camera, it's significantly more difficult to estimate skeletal pose. Body pose estimation in 2D using monocular RGB has been extensively studied, however it only estimates the 2D skeleton pose (Bourdev and Malik 2009; Felzenszwalb et al. 2010; Felzenszwalb and Huttenlocher 2005). 2D pose estimation relies on learning-based discriminative methods, such as deep learning (Insafutdinov et. 2016; Lifshitz et al., 2016; Newell et al., 2016; Tompson et. 2014), and some of these methods have shown real-time estimation (Cao et al. 2016; Wei et al. 2016). These methods are the current state of the art. The 3D skeleton pose estimation in monocular RGB is a significantly more difficult problem that has been solved by a limited number of algorithms (Bogo et al. 2016; Tekin et al. 2016b,c; Zhou et al. 2015, 2016, 2015b). Unfortunately, these approaches are usually offline and commonly reconstruct 3D joint positions for each image, which are temporally unstable. They don't enforce consistent bone lengths, which is a problem. Due to the lack of real-time 3D character control, they are unsuitable for these applications.

Recently, these problems have been solved by Mehta et al. 2020; they used SelecSLS Net convolutional neural network, fully connected neural network, and space-time skeletal model fitting for the real-time analysis of multi-person 3D motion capture using a single RGB camera. Automated markerless pose estimation systems (Mündermann et al., 2006) used 3D articulated models in multiple 2D image planes (Kolotouros et al., 2021; R.J. Cotton, 2020) and used human mesh recovery techniques for pose estimation. The state-of-the-art deterministic regression models have resulted in increased accuracy and precision-based key points detection, human pose reconstruction (Bogo et al., 2016), and automatic estimation of a 3D human pose from a single image (Kolotouros et al., 2021), model fitting and generating human mesh. Human mesh reconstruction is applied to an image's 2D key points (human body joints) based on training methodology and a simple network design. The mesh is used for RGB analysis to estimate ROM for angular displacements of the three spinal segments. It allows for rotational and translational motion under 3 Degree of Freedom. Cotton (2020) developed a system combining marker-less pose estimation with sensors-based motion tracking for the rehabilitation of patients. Smartphones with embedded (Inertial, accelerometer, and gyroscope) sensors are capable of detecting the joint position, measuring joint ROM, active cervical ROM (Guidetti et al., 2017), and active craniocervical ROM (Pourahmadi et al., 2018) have demonstrated robustness (Sedrez et al., 2020).

Chapter 4

Investigating the role of physical activity level and body build characteristics on the kinematics of the spine and knee/hip joint -Marker-based motion capture system

This study aims to investigate the spine and knee biomechanics of young and healthy male and female participants with no reported spinal injury or lower back pain issues and no identified clinical spine deformity. This study investigates spine kinematics by the angular displacement of the three spine segments and the lumbopelvic-hip segments in flexion, lateral-bend, twist, and squat exercise executed by normal healthy young adults. To generate a reference chart/model, the angular displacement is correlated to an individual's physical parameters such as height, weight, BMI, WHR, and physical activity level. Based on the correlation analysis of physical parameters to the angular displacement, we hypothesized the relationship between angular displacements and physical parameters in young and healthy participants. Our study followed the standard marker set proposed by List et al. (2013) and other studies from the Institute of Biomechanics ETH Zurich.

We used two approaches to collect data for this study (marker-based Opti-track cameras and markerless single RGB cameras). Comparing the data collected from the same group of participants from two techniques (RGB & marker-based motion capture) would help in better accuracy estimates, error corrections if required, and, significantly, for clinical/human movement science applications with the reference models thus generated. Importantly, the comparison of RGB with motion capture allows for applications of an inexpensive marker-less system for use in clinics backed by robust models.

4.1 Methodology

4.1.1 Participants

Ethics approval was provided by the Human Study Ethics Committee of the institute. Informed consent was obtained from each participant. They were further informed that they could exit the study at any time with no penalty. Forty male subjects (age=19-33 years; mean=21.7 ± 2.97 years)

and twenty-two female subjects (age=19-30 years; mean=22.5 \pm 3.36 years) pursuing undergraduate and graduate studies at institute (fully residential campus) volunteered for this study. As part of the curriculum, all students undergo 1 hour/day of physical training (exercises, yoga, sports, etc.) in the first year of their 4-year college program. The campus also has an active sports center and a yoga hall with trainers.

• Inclusion criteria:

- Adults with >=17 and <= 35 years of age (younger people).
- Adults reported being under no medication, especially for pain, at the time of the experiment.
- Adults who had no record of any spine/back injuries in the past

• Exclusion criteria:

- Any spine/knee injury that would limit the ability of the adult to participate in the study.
- Current pain medication or taking steroids for muscle injury
- Refusal to give informed consent.

4.1.2 Experimental Paradigm

A three-dimensional marker-based motion capture setup of 6 Opti-track Prime-13w motion tracking cameras capable of capturing 240fps (positional errors less than +/-0.30mm; rotational errors less than 0.5 degrees) which can detect active and passive markers was the studio setup. The cameras detect the infra-red reflectors applied as markers on the body. The Motive Opti-track software controls the cameras to capture 6 Degree of Freedom (3D position and orientation) data as shown in Fig 4.1.



Figure 4.1: The three-dimensional marker-based motion capture setup of 6 Opti-track

The tracking video was captured in a room (20x10 ft). The marker set had 12 infrared reflectors arranged along the spinal column's length. The positioning of the markers is as follows: three on the cervical, five on the thoracic, and four on the lumbar region (as shown in Fig 4.2). Additionally, two reflectors each on the knees (one each on the patella and lateral knee), one on each ankle (Fibula), one each on the palm, two on the shoulders (approximately the trapezius muscle), just above the hips and in line with the last lumbar segment reflector, two on the upper chest. The marker positioning configuration is in accordance with previously reported studies (Suter et al., 2020; Zemp et al., 2014; List et al., 2013). Data collection was preceded by calibration to identify the capture volume by the 'wanding' process to reduce occlusion, setting up of the ground plane and origin as required for the coordinate system in Motive (Optitrack's-software).



Figure 4.2: Marker placement covering the spinal column. A Velcro strip with retro-reflectors affixed was prepared for ease of fixing on the suit.

Participants were positioned at a demarcated position on the floor with maximum capture volume as determined by the calibration stage. Markers directly fixed on skin (either wearing shorts or bikinis by female participants), which is optimal and with less errors would be difficult to get participant consent especially when collecting data from female participants, hence a skin-tight non-reflective bodysuit was worn to minimize the error margin. The instruction was to perform slow (no timer) and gradual movements for each exercise to maximize sensor tracking and minimize detection error. Participants performed spine flexion (Fig 4.3 A), lateral bending (Fig 4.3 D:i,ii,iii), twist (Fig 4.3 D:iv,v,vi), and unrestricted unilateral squat (Fig 4.3 E) exercises, and for ecological relevance, no hip constraint was used (Fig 4.3 E) based on individual comfort with feet to hip-width alignment. Three self-paced trials of each exercise were executed preceded by a warm-up. The BMI and WHR were measured, and self-reported Physical Activity Level scores calculated using a questionnaire on frequency (hours in a week) of participation insports, yoga, jogging, dancing, over the last 2 months from one to five (one as the lowest and 5 as highest). The data was collected during the Covid pandemic between the 1st wave and 2nd wave and hence as most team sports activity was suspended and one was permitted to take walks, jog, or cycle within the campus, the question did not cover sports like basketball, football or cricket.



Figure 4.3: (A) Marker placement covering the spinal column. A Velcro strip with retro-reflectors affixed was prepared for ease of fixing on the suit. The vectors from the selected base marker are shown in the inset and the estimated angle " θ " between both positions. (B) A sample screen shot of the point light capture the initial position and the flexion exercise. (C) Approximation of S-shaped spine curvature using vector analysis. Subset images: (i) Last sensor on the lower back as reference (Base) marker (ii) Position vectors formed by connecting all the markers with the base marker as the origin for the first frame (upright position) (iii) Position vectors in the maximum angular displacement frame relative to the first frame in spine flexion exercise with the base marker as the origin (bent position). (D) Spine lateral-bend with angle notation and axial-rotation exercise, with intermediate base position. (E) Squat exercise with angle notation and intermediate base position.

4.1.3 Data Analysis

The pre-processing steps for the motion capture include the 2D Object Filtering (Filter Type: Size & Roundness; Min threshold pixels: 4; Max threshold pixels: 2000; circularity: 0.60) on the image captured by all six cameras to filter marker noise, removing frames with sudden non-task movements, identification and labeling of markers. Data gaps in the marker trajectories were filled using the interpolation method.

4.1.3.1 Spine Motion Analysis

The 12th (reference/base marker) marker of the spine (Fig 4.3 (A, C)) was used to construct a 3D Local Coordinate System(LCS) for flexion and lateral-bend exercises as it showed the least amount of

angular and translational displacement while performing the exercises. The position vectors (location and orientation) of all the markers were constructed by keeping the reference/base marker as the origin in the local 3D coordinate system (Fig 4.3 C). The cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine region angles were estimated by calculating the angle between the current position vector (Fig 4.3 C) and the initial position vector (a vector before initialization; Fig 4.3 A) in the LCS for all the points to approximate the S-shaped spine curvature at each frame. The angles for axial spine rotation were calculated in the global coordinate system with reference to the world origin, as having a single reference is advantageous for correlational analysis. An exercise starts when the marker's displacement (velocity) changes from zero to positive at each segment with respect to the reference marker in the direction of movement. The end was determined when the marker reached 'zero' displacement, corresponding to the spine's initial vertical position and the angular displacement between these two positions represented by the angle " θ ", subtended by the position vectors V1 and V2 (shown in Fig 4.3 A and 4.3 D(ii,iii)) calculated using the law of cosine. For each trial, the maximum angular displacement/ROM values of each segmental region were calculated and the average peak value of three trails was considered for further statistical analysis. A representation (one participant) of the temporal sequence of angles/movements (ROM) for the three trials is shown in Figure 4.4.

4.1.3.2 Knee/Hip Motion Analysis

A position vector is drawn from the 12th (reference/base marker) marker to the knee markers for approximating the relative positioning and direction of the knee/hip-joint movement using the estimation of hip segment angle between the current position vector and initial position vector ((Fig 4.3 E(ii))). The position vector V1 at the starting of the exercise and the position vector V2 at the final squat position i.e., at the ending of the exercise and, the angle " θ " subtended by the two vectors is extracted (Fig 4.3 E). The maximum bend displacements of the left and right hip-knee segments from the initial position were noted. Before applying statistical methods, the peak angle values were averaged for three trials and each knee separately. In addition, squat depth is calculated by estimating the 12th/reference marker's displacement on the spine in the axial plane. A representation (one participant) of the temporal sequence of angles/movements (ROM) for the three trials is shown in Figure (Fig 4.3 D).



Figure 4.4: Sample of the temporal sequence of the spine movement of a participant for 3 trials with respect to each frame for marker-based motion capture system. (A) Spine Flexion (B) Spine Lateral Bend - left and right- three trails each (C) Spine Side Twist (clock and anticlock wise) -three trails each (D) Squat exercise.

4.1.4 Statistical Analysis

The Shapiro-Wilk test for normality in data showed significance for 7 data sets in both gender groups and hence non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was applied to examine differences between conditions. The Spearman's rank correlation analysis examined the relationships between BMI, WHR and physical activity level (self-scored on a scale of 1-5 by participants) to angular displacements. A seed-based correlation was applied to test whether subjects with normal and high BMI, WHR, and level of physical activity form a cluster. The statistical significance level for all tests was set at p<0.05.

For analysis, participants were further divided as normal (Males: 20 participants; Female: 15) and overweight (Male: 20 participants; female: 7) as per BMI standards (<24.9 is normal and >25 is overweight). Similarly, subjects were categorized into normal and high WHR groups based on established World Health Organization (WHO) waist-to-hip standards for males (0.90 is normal, number = 15 and >0.90 is high, number = 25) and females (0.85 is normal, number = 15 and >0.85 is high, number = 7).

	Female			Male		
Parameter	BMI	WHR	Physical activity level	BMI	WHR	Physical activity level
min	16.3	0.71	2	18.1	0.83	1
max	29.1	0.89	4	33.6	0.95	4
mean	22.94545	0.819545	3.136363636	24.83	0.91125	2.925
stdev	3.031066	0.054202	0.710161252	3.42249	0.02738	0.693837341

Table 4.1: Descriptive statistics of Physical parameters for both male and female participants.

4.2 Analysis of Physical parameters

As shown in Table 4.1, the mean of BMI and WHR is higher for male participants which could be due to the smaller sample size in female participants, but in terms of physical activity level, female participants had higher mean as well as standard deviation (table).

4.2.1 Descriptive Statistics

The Shapiro-Wilk test was significant for BMI (p<0.01) and physical activity level (p = 0.027) in male participants, while for WHR (p = 0.474), it was not significant. A similar trend was observed for female participants, with BMI (p<0.001) and physical activity level (p<0.001) as significant and WHR (p = 0.175) as not significant.

4.2.2 Inferential Statistics

4.2.2.1 Spearman Correlation between BMI, WHR and physical activity level

In male participants, physical activity levels were negatively correlated with BMI (ρ = -0.18; p = 0.266) and WHR (ρ = -0.119; p = 0.463) values (Fig 4.5, i.e., Physical activity increases as BMI and WHR decreases. While for female participants, it was negative for WHR (ρ = -0.114; p = 0.612) but positive for BMI (ρ = 0.29; p = 0.191) (Fig 4.6. For female participants, BMI and WHR were significantly positive correlated (ρ = 0.588**; p = 0.004 (<0.01)) but for male participants, it was negative and not significant (ρ = -0.296; p = 0.063). The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 4.5 and 4.6.



Figure 4.5: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters for male subjects



Figure 4.6: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters for female subjects

4.3 Analysis of spine flexion movement

As expected physiologically for the flexion, the cervical segment (neck) displacement is higher than the other two segments (Fig 4.7 & 4.8) for all participants. The mean values and standard deviations for angles of the flexion exercise were comparable for both genders, but with a wide distribution of angular displacement (minimum \approx 50 deg and max \approx 90deg). Fig 4.8 shows the in-subject variability in angular displacement in flexion exercise for both genders in each spinal region. For both genders, angular displacement in the lumbar region is significantly smaller than in other regions for all subjects (difference of \approx 20 degrees).



Figure 4.7: Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the three spine segments in flexion exercise. (a) Box plot of spine segments for male participants (b) Box plot of spine segments for female participants.



Figure 4.8: Participant wise distribution of spinal column angles using marker-based motion capture for spine flexion exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.

4.3.1 Descriptive Statistics

For male participants, the Shapiro-Wilk test for spinal columns was not significant (p = 0.257 (cervical region); p = 0.328 (thoracic region); p = 0.286 (lumbar region)). While for female participants

thoracic (p = 0.17) and lumbar (p = 0.525) were not significant, however cervical region was significant (p = 0.027).

4.3.2 Inferential Statistics

4.3.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Spine Flexion

In male individuals, cervical angular displacement is similar for both normal (median=83) and overweight (median=82) BMI; however, there are differences in the thoracic and lumbar angular displacement (Fig 4.9 (a)). For all spinal columns, even though angular displacement of the normal BMI group had more dispersion than those in the overweight category (Fig 4.9 (a)), the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference. For females, 31.8% had a high BMI; the medians of the high BMI group were higher than the normal group for all three regions (Fig 4.10 (a)), indicating that the overweight BMI group had more angular displacement. For all three segments, the angular displacement of the high BMI group had more dispersion than the normal group; however, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference.

High WHR was found in 62.5% of males. The medians of both the groups for the cervical and lumbar regions were comparable (Fig 4.9 (b)), while there were differences in the thoracic region. Although the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference, the angular displacement of the high WHR group had more dispersion than the normal WHR group. In females, the normal WHR group exhibited significantly higher displacement (median) in all three spinal columns than the high WHR group (Fig 4.10 (b)). Still, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference



Figure 4.9: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine flexion exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group.



Figure 4.10: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine flexion exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.

4.3.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with angular displacements of spinal columns in flexion

In male participants, physical activity level was significantly positive correlated with all three spinal columns (cervical: $\rho = 0.645^{***}$, p < 0.001; thoracic: $\rho = 0.643^{***}$, p < 0.001; lumbar: $\rho = 0.62^{***}$, p < 0.001), i.e., spine flexion angles increase as physical activity level increases. BMI was positively correlated but not significant for all spinal columns. For female cohort, physical activity level was significantly positive correlated with all three spinal columns (cervical: $\rho = 0.874^{***}$, p < 0.001; thoracic: $\rho = 0.879^{***}$, p < 0.001; lumbar: $\rho = 0.852^{***}$, p < 0.001), i.e., spine flexion angles increase as physical activity level was significantly positive correlated with all three spinal columns (cervical: $\rho = 0.874^{***}$, p < 0.001; thoracic: $\rho = 0.879^{***}$, p < 0.001; lumbar: $\rho = 0.852^{***}$, p < 0.001), i.e., spine flexion angles increase as physical activity level increases. BMI was positively correlated but not significant for all spinal columns. The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 4.11 and 4.12.



Figure 4.11: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Flexion angles for male subjects



Figure 4.12: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Flexion angles for female subjects

4.4 Analysis of spine lateral bend movement

As expected physiologically for the flexion, the cervical segment (neck) displacement is higher than the other two segments (Fig 4.13) for all participants. The dominant side (right, as the majority were right-handed) is evident for both genders (Fig 4.13). The mean values and standard deviation for angles in lateral bend exercise was higher for male participants than female participants. The distribution around the mean is high (stdev $\approx \pm 9$).



Figure 4.13: Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the three spine segments in lateral bend exercise. (a) Box plot of spine segments for male participants (b) Box plot of spine segments for female participants.

4.4.1 Descriptive Statistics

For male participants. The Shapiro-Wilk test for spinal columns was not significant (p = 0.38 (cervical-left); p = 0.165 (cervical-right); p = 0.426 (thoracic-left); p = 0.166 (thoracic-right); p = 0.169 (lumbar-left); p = 0.068 (lumbar-right)). For female participants, similar result was found as for male participants, (p = 0.639 (cervical-left); p = 0.622 (cervical-right); p = 0.395 (thoracic-left); p = 0.369 (thoracic-right); p = 0.261 (lumbar-right)).

4.4.2 Inferential Statistics

4.4.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Spine Lateral Bend

In male participants, the normal BMI group had larger angular displacement in cervical and thoracic regions in the left lateral-bend (Fig 4.14 (a)). By contrast, the overweight group's median angular displacement was higher in the right lateral-bend. The overweight BMI group had more dispersion of angular displacement of all three segments for both sides than the normal BMI group; however, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference. For females, even though the dispersion of angular displacements for both normal and overweight BMI groups were nearly comparable (Fig 4.15 (a)), the Mann-Whitney test shows significant difference for cervical right lateral-bend (U-value=24,

p-value=0.048, n1=15, n2=7, z-score=-1.973, effect-size: -0.543, two-tailed) and lumbar right lateralbend (U-value=19, p-value=0.0198, n1=15, n2=7, z-score=-2.326, effect-size: -0.638, two-tailed) while thoracic right-lateral bend (U-value=25, p-value=0.057, n1=15, n2=7, z-score=-1.903, effect-size: -0.524, two-tailed) was nearly significant.

In male participants, the high WHR group had higher angular displacement for both left and right lateralbends than the normal WHR group (Fig 4.14 (b)). The angular displacement of all three segments in the normal WHR group for the left lateral bend had more dispersion than the high WHR group, while the right lateral bend had more dispersion in the high WHR group. Even though the lateral bend showed mixed results in terms of dispersion, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference. For the female cohort, the normal WHR group had greater angular displacement (median) in all three spinal columns (Fig 4.15 (b)). The angular displacement of all three segments in the normal WHR group for the left lateral bend had more dispersion, while the right lateral bend had mixed results; however, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference.



Figure 4.14: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine lateral bend exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group.



Figure 4.15: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine lateral bend exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.

4.4.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with angular displacements of spinal columns in lateral bend

In male participants, physical activity level was significantly positive correlated with all spinal columns (cervical-left: $\rho = 0.372^*$, p = 0.018; cervical-right: $\rho = 0.488^{**}$, p = 0.001; thoracic-left: $\rho = 0.324^*$, p = 0.041; thoracic-right: $\rho = 0.443^*$, p = 0.004; lumbar-left: $\rho = 0.325^*$, p = 0.04; lumbar-right: $\rho = 0.411^{**}$, p = 0.008), i.e., spine lateral bend angles increase as physical activity level increases. BMI was negatively correlated not significant with all the spinal columns when participants bend left side, while positively correlated not significant with all the spinal columns when participants bend right side. WHR was negatively correlated with all the spinal columns except for lumbar region when the participants bend right side. For female cohort, physical activity level was positively correlated but not significant with all spinal columns (cervical-left: $\rho = 0.229$, p = 0.306; cervical-right: $\rho = 0.213$, p = 0.34; thoracic-left: $\rho = 0.268$, p = 0.228; thoracic-right: $\rho = 0.197$, p = 0.378; lumbar-left: $\rho = 0.217$, p = 0.332; lumbar-right: $\rho = 0.147$, p = 0.512). BMI and WHR was also positively correlated but not significant (p > 0.05 for all spinal columns). The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 4.16 and 4.17.



Figure 4.16: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Lateral-bend angles for male subjects.



Figure 4.17: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Lateral-bend angles for female subjects.

4.5 Analysis of spine side twist movement

As expected physiologically for sidetwist, the lumbar segment (lower back) displacement is higher than the other two segments (Fig 4.18) for all participants. The mean values and standard deviation for angles in sidetwist exercise was comparable for both male and female participants. The distribution of angular displacements of left and right side axial twist (Fig 4.18 a) is similar for male participants. In

contrast, the distribution of angular displacements of thoracic and lumbar segments for the right-side twist had marginally less dispersion than the left-side twist for female participants (Fig 4.18 b).



Figure 4.18: Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the three spine segments in sidetwist exercise. (a) Box plot of spine segments for male participants (b) Box plot of spine segments for female participants.

4.5.1 Descriptive Statistics

For male participants, the Shapiro-Wilk test for spinal column angle data was significant for cervical region (p = 0.005) when participant twist right side and for lumbar region (p = 0.021) when participant twist left side, while not significant for other spinal regions. For female cohort, Shapiro-Wilk test for all spinal column angle data was not significant for all regions.

4.5.2 Inferential Statistics

4.5.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Spine Side twist

For both BMI groups in the male cohort, relatively equal angular displacement (median) was observed in all three segments ((Fig 4.19 (a)). The dispersion of angular displacement for both groups was comparable in the cervical region, while the overweight group BMI had more dispersion in the thoracic and lumbar region; however, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference. In females, approximately equal angular displacement (median) was found for all three segments ((Fig 4.20 (a)). The dispersion of angular displacement for both normal and overweight BMI groups was comparable in the cervical region, whereas the overweight BMI group had more dispersion in the thoracic and lumbar region; however, the non-parametric difference test did not show any significant difference.

In the male participants, for the WHR grouping, the angular displacement (median) and dispersion of angular displacement were roughly comparable across all three segments (Fig 4.19 (b)). For females, the dispersion of angular displacement for both the groups was comparable in the cervical region, whereas the normal WHR group had more dispersion in the thoracic and lumbar region (Fig 4.20 (b)); however, the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference.



Figure 4.19: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine sidetwist exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group.



Figure 4.20: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in all spinal regions for spine sidetwist exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of spinal columns' angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.

4.5.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with angular displacements of spinal columns in sidetwist

In male participants, physical activity level was weakly correlated with all spinal columns except in thoracic region (p = 0.038) when participants twisted in left side and in lumbar (p = 0.022) when participants twisted in left side, while BMI and WHR both were not significant with all spinal columns in spine sidetwist exercise. For female cohort, physical activity level, BMI and WHR all three were postively correlated with all the spinal columns in spine sidetwist exercise but not significant (p > 0.05). The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 4.21 and 4.22.



Figure 4.21: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Sidetwist angles for male subjects.



Figure 4.22: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and Sidetwist angles for female subjects.

4.6 Analysis of squats movement

The squat had approximately similar angular displacement distribution for all the participants. Female participants show significantly higher angles than the male participants (Fig 4.23). The mean and standard deviation of female participants was higher than for the male participants. The distribution of hip-knee segment displacements for both sides was more disperse in female participants (≈ 14) than for male participants (≈ 10). The squat depth as measured by the reference (12th) marker in male participants was in a range (14.07 - 66.31 cms; average: 32.75 cms), while for female participants, the range was between (15.08 - 65.31 cms; average = 38.5 cms). Fig 4.24 shows the in-subject variability in angular displacement in squats exercise for both genders in each hip-knee segment.



Figure 4.23: Box plot for comparison between angle estimates for the Hip-knee segments in squats exercise. (a) Box plot of hip-knee segments for male participants (b) Box plot of hip-knee segments for female participants.



Figure 4.24: Participant wise distribution of hip-knee segment angles using marker-based motion capture for squats exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.

4.6.1 Descriptive Statistics

The Shapiro-Wilk test for hip-knee segment displacement data was not significant for both male and female participants.

4.6.2 Inferential Statistics

4.6.2.1 Comparative analysis of Angular Displacement in Squats

Although the male group in the normal BMI group had more angular displacement (median) and dispersion than the overweight group (Fig 4.25 (a)) and an inverse trend was observed for females (Fig 4.26 (a)), the Mann-Whitney test did not show any significant difference.

For male participants, the high WHR group had more angular displacement (median) than the normal WHR group (Fig 4.25 (b)), while for females, angular displacement for both WHR groups was comparable (Fig 4.26 (b)). For both males and females, the normal WHR group had more dispersion of angular displacement than the high WHR group for both the limbs. Though the differences were not significant.



Figure 4.25: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in both hip-knee segments for squat exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI male participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and high WHR male participants group.



Figure 4.26: Box plot for comparison of angular displacement in both hip-knee segments for squat exercise. (a) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and overweight BMI female participants group. (b) Box plot for comparison of knee/hip angle distribution in normal and high WHR female participants group.

4.6.2.2 Spearman Correlation of BMI, WHR and physical activity level with angular displacements of hip-knee segment in squats

BMI was significantly negatively correlated ($p = -.352^*$) with hip-knee angular displacements for the squat exercise, while WHR showed weak positive correlations (not significant) and physical activity level was positively correlated for male participants (Fig 4.27). The analysis grouped by gender, BMI, WHR and physical activity level in the female cohort were negatively associated with hip-knee angular

displacement (Fig 28) but were not statistically significant. The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 4.27, 4.28.



Figure 4.27: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and knee/hip angles for male subjects. .



Figure 4.28: Spearman's correlation heatmap between Physical Parameters and knee/hip angles for female subjects.

4.7 Seed-based correlation analysis of participants

We considered a male participant who was a trained dancer and a female participant who does yoga daily, with great flexibility and good angular displacements of the spinal columns, as references for male and female groups. The Spearman seed-based correlation matrix for flexion exercise and both genders resulted in a single cluster; that is, the correlational value (ρ) was greater than 0.90, signifying minimal variation in participants of both genders as a function of flexibility due to specific motor skills.

4.8 Interpretations of Results

4.8.1 Spine Kinematics

The three exercises (flexion in the sagittal plane, lateral-bend in the frontal plane and twist in the transverse plane) confirmed the contribution of all the three segments (Schinkel-Ivy et al., 2015). The

angular displacement of the lumbar spine for flexion, twist and the lateral-bend (Lee & Wong, 2002) was within the reported range (Tafazzol et al., 2014; Lee & Wong,2002; Zwambag et al., 2018; review article: Widmer et al., 2019), but show a substantial inter-subject variability (for flexion in males the range was 50-110 degrees for the thoracic) even in healthy subjects recruited for the study. The angular displacement distribution shows higher dispersion in female participants than in male participants. Previous studies have also reported gender-related differences (MRI method: Muriuki et al., 2016; motion capture method: Ignasiak et al., 2017). Though, in our study the range was similar, which may be attributed to the sample size (fewer female participants). In the lateral bending exercise, angles were higher in the right bend, this finding adds to the discussions on the dominant side effect on the lumbar spinal muscles supporting lateral bend (Sung et al., 2004).

Comparative analyses based on grouping as a function of BMI or WHR as between-subject parameters for males and females yielded mixed results. For normal and overweight BMI female groups, significant differences were observed only in cervical and lumbar right lateral bends, while male participants had no significant differences. There was also no significant difference when grouped on WHR. In the participants considered for this study, we observed that a significant number of participants with normal BMI had high WHR, and hence inferences on the effect of each require unique groups (high BMI & High WHR/ Normal BMI & Normal WHR) is required. Further investigation with exclusive categorization is also important to isolate the role of each factor (WHR or BMI or both) on chronic lower-back pain in the younger population (Ganesan et al., 2017). Secondly, our study does not consider spinal load by computing the muscle forces as a function of body weight and waist circumference, which has been shown to affect flexion exercise (Ghezelbash et al., 2016; 2017).

We observed significant correlations between physical activity level and angular displacements in male subjects in all spinal segments for spine flexion, left and right spine lateral-bend, and a few conditions in the spine side-twist. A positive (significant) with physical activity and flexion exercise for all the spine segments was observed in the female group. The absence of statistical significance in the female cohort for certain exercises could be due to the smaller sample size and the role of higher estrogen levels (Chidi-Ogbolu et al., 2019) in the age group considered and, hence, flexibility may be independent of physical characteristics or activity.

Overall, the outcomes from the correlations to spine angles are on expected lines, and it can be inferred that flexibility (as measured by the exercise routines) is primarily attributed to age (18-27 years) and physical activity. The seed-based correlation analysis resulted in a single cluster indicating minimal variation across the participants, indicating a higher effect of age and health (importantly physical activity) and not just on BMI or WHR. For male participants' physical activity levels were negatively correlated with their BMI and WHR values whereas for female participants' there was a negative correlation with their WHR, and a positive correlation with BMI. The positive correlation between BMI and physical activity level could be due to a more uniform BMI range in the female sample or being more sensitive to BMI, leading to physical activity.

4.8.2 Knee/hip joint kinematics

The biomechanics of the hip, thigh muscles and the knee/ankle joints are essential in analyzing daily activities. In particular, the synchronous flexion/extension of several muscle groups (quadriceps, hamstrings, glutes, abdominals and calves) is required for most daily activities (such as walking, stair climbing, kneeling, and squatting). The engagement of the erector spinae in addition to the hamstring muscles was also reported by (Gorsuch et al., 2013) when testing runners. Because parallel squatting exercise demands both movement and stability, it is shown to be effective in developing muscle strength (Escamilla, 2001) and utilized to better understand flexibility by evaluating the ROM. The correlation analysis run on the male participant data showed that BMI was significantly negatively correlated with hip angular displacements, WHR was weakly positively correlated, and physical activity level was positively correlated. While in the female cohort, BMI, WHR, and physical activity level were all negatively correlated with knee angular displacement. There was a difference in male and female's left and right knee angular displacements in the WHR/BMI grouping. This variation could be due to two physiological factors: an individual's center of gravity as a function of body weight and height, and body posture asymmetry. The studies (Hale et al., 2014) on the role of muscles to execute a squat could explain to a degree the surprising findings of normal BMI group having smaller angular displacements and range of motion than the overweight female group. Thomas et al., (1998) reported that women choose hip and knee movement patterns while men choose spine and knee movement pattern during reaching tasks that necessitate some forward bending of the trunk. Also, it is possible that females and males used different movement strategies as was observed during a single leg squat (Graci et al., 2012; Weeks et al., 2015; Zeller et al., 2003).

Chapter 5

Developing a new technique to investigating the role of physical activity level and body build characteristics on the kinematics of the spine and knee/hip joint - Marker-less Single RGB camera motion capture system

This study aims to develop a new technique to investigate the spine and knee biomechanics of young and healthy male and female participants with no reported spinal injury or lower back pain issues and no identified clinical spine deformity. This study investigates spine kinematics by the angular displacement of the three spine segments and the lumbopelvic-hip segments in flexion, lateral-bend, twist, and squat exercise executed by normal healthy young adults. To generate a reference chart/model. The angular displacement extracted from marker-less approach was correlated with the angular displacement extracted from marker-based approach. Based on the correlation analysis, we hypothesized the relationship between marker-less and marker-based methods.

5.1 Methodology

5.1.1 Participants

- Ethics approval was provided by the Human Study Ethics Committee of the institute. Informed consent was obtained from each participant. They were further informed that they could exit the study at any time with no penalty. Forty male subjects (age=19-33 years; mean=21.7 ± 2.97 years) and twenty-two female subjects (age=19-30 years; mean=22.5 ± 3.36 years) pursuing undergraduate and graduate studies at institute (fully residential campus) who volunteered for the markets-based motion capture system study volunteered for this study. As part of the curriculum, all students undergo 1 hour/day of physical training (exercises, yoga, sports, etc.) in the first year of their 4-year college program. The campus also has an active sports center and a yoga hall with trainers.
- Inclusion criteria:

- Adults with >=17 and <= 35 years of age (younger people).
- Adults reported being under no medication, especially for pain, at the time of the experiment.
- Adults who had no record of any spine/back injuries in the past
- Exclusion criteria:
 - Any spine/knee injury that would limit the ability of the adult to participate in the study.
 - Current pain medication or taking steroids for muscle injury
 - Refusal to give informed consent.

5.1.2 Experiment Paradigm

The recording with an RGB camera was captured from the 62 participants wearing track pants and a T-shirt in the mocap studio. The camera angles were adjusted to position the spine in the field view, as shown in Fig 5.1. The subjects performed spine flexion, lateral bend, and squats exercises as the same exercises for marker-less as were executed for the marker-based motion capture paradigm. Each exercise's three self-paced trials were executed, preceded by a warm-up time. In practice, because muscle constraints can cause variations in spine movement across trials of the same exercise, the participants were instructed to warm up before the experiment to relax their muscles and improve flexibility, followed by performing three trials of each exercise to get a better approximation of range of motion values for each movement.



Figure 5.1: Spine flexion, lateral-bend, and squat exercises with intermediate base positions performed via an individual.

5.1.3 Data Extraction

The initial (first frame when the task began) and maximum displacement frames (frames when the participant's spine had the most angular displacement relative to the first frame) for all trials of an exercise for each participant were obtained from the recorded data. Extraction of 2D poses (key-points) for all frames was done using the Open Pose model (Cao et al.,2017), followed by generation of the 3D

skeleton using these 2D poses in the ProHMR model (Kolotouros et al.,2021). By visualizing one of the 3D skeletons with the blender tool (open-source 3D visualization tool) and extracting all the spine coordinates for all 3D skeletons using these indices, twenty-seven spine (8 cervical, 14 thoracic, and 5 lumbar) coordinate indices were identified. The 3D skeleton for one participant from the ProHMR model in the analysis sections for each exercise.

5.1.4 Data Analysis

Using the method applied for marker-based motion capture, the angular displacement for the three spinal columns and hip/knee segments was extracted.

5.2 Analysis of Spine, knee/hip movement

In this section, a detailed analysis of the skeleton/mesh extracted using ProHMR model is presented with the correlation analysis of angular displacement estimated via both the techniques to hypothesize the relationship.



5.2.1 Spine flexion

Figure 5.2: Generated 3D Human skeleton for a single participant in spine flexion exercise: Fitted 3D pose from 2D key-points and Consolidated 3D pose visualized in blender tool.

For spine flexion, 3D skeleton for one participant from the ProHMR model is shown in Fig 5.2. For spine flexion, as expected physiologically and through our marker-based model for the flexion, the cervical segment (neck) displacement is higher than the other two segments (Fig 5.3 & 5.4) for all participants. The mean values and standard deviations for angles of the flexion exercise were comparable for both genders (Fig 5.3), but with a wide distribution of angular displacement (minimum \approx 50 deg and max \approx 100deg). Fig 5.4 shows the in-subject variability in angular displacement in flexion exercise

for both genders in each spinal region. For both genders, angular displacement in the lumbar region is significantly smaller than in other regions for all subjects (difference of ≈ 15 degrees).



Figure 5.3: The angle estimates for the three spine segments and Flexion exercises (a) Male participants,(b) Female participants.



Figure 5.4: Participant-wise distribution of spinal region angles extracted from the RGB camera video for spine flexion exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.

5.2.1.1 Comparative analysis between marker-based and marker-less motion capture system

For male participants, Spearman's correlation analysis revealed that marker-less RGB angular displacement and marker-based angular displacement was significantly positively correlated with all three spine regions (p<0.001), i.e., spine flexion angles estimated via both methods are approximately similar. For female cohort, the similar pattern was observed as for male (cervical: p = 0.002; thoracic: p = 0.002; lumbar: p = 0.004). The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 5.5 and 5.6.



Figure 5.5: Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and markerbases angular displacement for male participants in spine flexion exercise.



Figure 5.6: Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and markerbases angular displacement for male participants in spine flexion exercise.

5.2.2 Spine lateral bend



Figure 5.7: Generated 3D Human skeleton for a single participant in spine lateral-bend exercise: Fitted 3D pose from 2D key-points and Consolidated 3D pose visualized in blender tool.

For spine lateral-bend, 3D skeleton for one participant from the ProHMR model is shown in Fig 5.7. As expected physiologically for the flexion, the cervical segment (neck) displacement is higher than the other two segments (Fig 5.8) for all participants. The dominant side (right, as the majority were right-handed) is evident for both genders (Fig 5.8). The mean values and standard deviation for angles in lateral bend exercise was higher for male participants than female participants. The distribution around the mean is high (stdev $\approx \pm 10$).


Figure 5.8: The angle estimates for the three spine segments and Lateral bend exercise (a) Male participants, (b) Female participants.

5.2.2.1 Comparative analysis between marker-based and marker-less motion capture system

Spearman's correlation analysis revealed that marker-less RGB angular displacement and markerbased angular displacement that strong positive correlations for spine lateral-bend were observed in female participants, while weak mixed correlations were found in male participants though the maximum difference was 5.825 degrees. The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 5.9 and 5.10.

													10
Cervical Left marker-less	1	0.97	0.84	0.71	0.73	0.73	0.076	-0.013	-0.014	0.034	-0.01	-0.047	- 1.0
Thoracic Left marker-less	0.97	1	0.91		0.75	0.78	0.069	-0.019	-0.026	0.022	-0.024	-0.057	
Lumbar Left marker-less	0.84	0.91	1			0.8	0.071	-0.0028	-0.029	0.0008	-0.048	-0.036	- 0.8
Cervical Right marker-less				1	0.96	0.81	-0.083	-0.12	-0.091	0.059	0.016	0.0024	
Thoracic Right marker-less		0.75		0.96	1	0.91	-0.13	-0.16	-0.13	-0.0039	-0.054	-0.056	- 0.6
Lumbar Right marker-less		0.78	0.8	0.81	0.91	1	-0.051	-0.083	-0.068	-0.042	-0.074	-0.07	
Cervical Left marker-based	0.076	0.069	0.071	-0.083	-0.13	-0.051	1	0.98	0.86	0.76	0.77	0.65	- 0.4
Thoracic Left marker-based	-0.013	-0.019	-0.0028	-0.12	-0.16	-0.083	0.98	1	0.91	0.77	0.79		
Lumbar Left marker-based	-0.014	-0.026	-0.029	-0.091	-0.13	-0.068	0.86	0.91	1	0.76	0.78	0.78	- 0.2
Cervical Right marker-based	0.034	0.022	0.0008	0.059	-0.0039	-0.042	0.76	0.77	0.76	1	0.98	0.91	
Thoracic Right marker-based	-0.01	-0.024	-0.048	0.016	-0.054	-0.074	0.77	0.79	0.78	0.98	1	0.93	- 0.0
Lumbar Right marker-based	-0.047	-0.057	-0.036	0.0024	-0.056	-0.07			0.78	0.91	0.93	1	
	Cervical Left marker-less	Thoracic Left marker-less	Lumbar Left marker-less	Cervical Right marker-less	Thoracic Right marker-less	Lumbar Right marker-less	Cervical Left marker-based	Thoracic Left marker-based	Lumbar Left marker-based	Cervical Right marker-based	Thoracic Right marker-based	Lumbar Right marker-based	

Figure 5.9: Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and markerbases angular displacement for male participants in spine lateral bend exercise.

													1.0
Cervical Left marker-less	1	0.99	0.92	0.79			0.45	0.35	0.26	0.5	0.41	0.25	- 1.0
Thoracic Left marker-less	0.99	1	0.95				0.48	0.4	0.31	0.52	0.44	0.3	- 0.9
Lumbar Left marker-less	0.92	0.95	1	0.76			0.45	0.42	0.34	0.49	0.41	0.24	
Cervical Right marker-less				1	0.98	0.93	0.56	0.48	0.46	0.65	0.56	0.47	- 0.8
Thoracic Right marker-less				0.98	1	0.96	0.57	0.5	0.48	0.66	0.57	0.47	- 0.7
Lumbar Right marker-less				0.93	0.96	1	0.58	0.54	0.49	0.62	0.55	0.44	
Cervical Left marker-based	0.45	0.48	0.45	0.56	0.57	0.58	1	0.95	0.88	0.9	0.89	0.65	- 0.6
Thoracic Left marker-based	0.35	0.4	0.42	0.48	0.5	0.54	0.95	1	0.95	0.88	0.9	0.68	-05
Lumbar Left marker-based	0.26	0.31	0.34	0.46	0.48	0.49	0.88	0.95	1		0.88	0.75	010
Cervical Right marker-based	0.5	0.52	0.49	0.65	0.66	0.62	0.9	0.88		1	0.96		- 0.4
Thoracic Right marker-based	0.41	0.44	0.41	0.56	0.57	0.55	0.89	0.9	0.88	0.96	1		
Lumbar Right marker-based	0.25	0.3	0.24	0.47	0.47	0.44	0.65	0.68				1	- 0.3
	Cervical Left marker-less	Thoracic Left marker-less	Lumbar Left marker-less	Cervical Right marker-less	Thoracic Right marker-less	Lumbar Right marker-less	Cervical Left marker-based	Thoracic Left marker-based	Lumbar Left marker-based	Cervical Right marker-based	Thoracic Right marker-based	Lumbar Right marker-based	

Figure 5.10: Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and markerbases angular displacement for female participants in spine lateral bend exercise.

5.2.3 Squats



Figure 5.11: Generated 3D Human skeleton for a single participant in squat exercise: Fitted 3D pose from 2D key-points and Consolidated 3D pose visualized in blender tool.

For squat, 3D skeleton for one participant from the ProHMR model is shown in Fig 5.11. The squat had an approximately similar angular displacement distribution for all the participants. Female participants show significantly higher angles than the male participants (Fig 5.12). The mean and standard deviation of female participants was higher than for the male participants. The distribution of hip-knee segment displacements for both sides was more disperse in female participants (\approx 14) than for male participants (\approx 10). The squat depth as measured by the reference (12th) marker. Fig 5.13 shows the in-subject variability in angular displacement in squats exercise for both genders in each hip-knee segment.



Figure 5.12: The angle estimates for both the knee segment in squat exercise. (a) Male participants, (b) Female participants.



Figure 5.13: Participant-wise distribution of hip-knee segment angles extracted from the RGB camera video for squat exercise in (A) Males (B) Females.

5.2.3.1 Comparative analysis between marker-based and marker-less motion capture system

For male participants, Spearman's correlation analysis revealed that marker-less RGB angular displacement and marker-based angular displacement was significantly positively correlated with both the knee segments (p<0.01), i.e., knee-hip segment angles estimated via both methods are approximately similar. For female cohort, the similar pattern was observed as for male (p<0.01). The detailed correlation matrix with heatmap is shown in Fig 5.14 and 5.15.



Figure 5.14: Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and markerbases angular displacement for male participants in squat exercise.



Figure 5.15: Spearman's correlation heatmap between marker-less angular displacement and markerbases angular displacement for female participants in squat exercise.

5.3 Interpretation of Results

Clinical instruments such as inclinometer, inertial based sensing system, goniometer, and measuring tape used for measuring ROM require user expertise for data collection. Even the marker-based method necessitates meticulous camera and skeleton calibration procedures, the resulting data is considered as gold standard. But, motion capture systems are unfeasible in the clinical setting and require a large physical space. Smartphones with embedded (Inertial, accelerometer, and gyroscope) sensors capable of detecting the joint position, measuring joint ROM, active cervical ROM (Guidetti et al.,2017) and active craniocervical ROM (Pourahmadi et al.,2018) have demonstrated robustness (Sedrez et al.,2020). These alternatives are required by the health professionals for the motion assessment. The angle estimates by considering a single reference marker (lower lumbar) to observe the displacement of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spinal columns from the two techniques were comparable. This demonstrates that

a single RGB camera and post-processing software (application) could be a viable marker-less motion capture technique for clinical applications with age/gender/exercise-specific reference/prediction models developed using gold-standard techniques like marker-based capture based on clinical-level reference model.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

6.1 Summary of Results

Spinal joint centers are difficult to identify with skin-mounted sensors due to difficulties in identifying bone landmarks, low intervertebral ranges of motion, and difficulty incomparing to radiograph ground truth values. Subject-specific spinal alignment of the markers and comparing them to radiographs have addressed some shortcomings (Schmid et al., 2017; 2021). Motion capture's significant advantage compared to static alignment data is in estimating the contributions of the spine columns from naturalistic kinematics models. Understanding the ROM of each segment is critical for diagnoses of spinal conditions, which requires a reference models from normal or healthy vertebral kinematics, which we have attempted in this study.

While there are studies investigating the whole trunk, only a few have focused on each segment and the intersegmental movement. For example, a local coordinate system was used to extract the relative orientations, say pelvic and thoracic orientations, to generate lumbar spine kinematics (Schinkel-Ivy et al., 2013). A study Zwambag et al. (2018) closest to our approach used a separate reference marker for the thoracic and lumbar spinal columns to compare intersegmental and electromagnetic techniques. In contrast, by estimating angles using a single reference marker and extracting displacement of all points on the spine, we attempt to resolve possible errors due to incorrect segment identification and evaluate the role of multi-segments in a full range flexion, bend, and twist movement to design technique independent model. This method is particularly useful when studying the variance due tothoracic kyphosis and lumbar lordosis curves, where segment identification is challenging. A single reference point/base marker is also optimal for comparing data from a marker-less single RGB camera technique since the skeletal frame extracted from the camera feed represents the spinal column with 27 nodes –from C1 to lumbar/sacrum. If there is imprecision in predicting the location of nodes/spine's S-shaped curvein the estimated 3D human mesh, the error will be higher if three reference frames (for each spinal segment) are considered.

The data from the spine and knee biomechanics from Asian-Indian young adults contributes to studies on skeleton, race and ethnicity (Looker, 2002). The in-depth analysis of physical characteristics and activity helps identify factors contributing to musculoskeletal flexibility. The models are more robust asthe same cohort was analyzed using two techniques. Future research could include a diversified (age, BMI, WHR, physical-activity) population and more trials for each exercise. Other physical parameters such as torso-to-leg-length ratio, spine 'S' curvature, and foot length (short vs. long) may be used to understand the height-spine angular displacement relationship better in spine and knee kinematics. Angular displacement accuracy in marker-less captures can be increased with a customized algorithm for pose estimation models focusing on spine movement.

6.2 Limitations and Implications for Future Work

A few factors limit this study: due to covid restrictions, data from older, clinical, and non-campus residents could not be collected, and only young and healthy subjects participated in this experiment, limiting population-level inferences. Although the angular displacements, estimated by both techniques, were in the predetermined range mentioned in (Vital et al., 2020), the suit worn by the participants introduces small errors. Increasing the number of mocap cameras could have minimized the marker detection error further. The angular displacements determined employing 3D human reconstruction using an RGB camera were comparable to the marker-based system spinal column angles. It is limited to capturing motion in specific exercises as we could not estimate the motion of spine axial rotations (twists). Lastly, we have used a single metric for physical activity, while a breakup into endurance, strength and flexibility training would help identify the effect of each on the spine biomechanics.

Related Publications

- Sharma, H., Karan, S. S., Agrawal, A. K., Vemuri, K. (2023). The role of individual physical body measurements and activity on spine kinematics during flexion, lateral bending and twist tasks in healthy young adults–Comparing marker (less) data. Biomedical Signal Processing and Control, 82, 104517.
- Sharma, H., Karan, S. S., Agrawal, A. K., Vemuri, K. (2022). "Investigating the association of kinematics of the spine and physical characteristics." Accepted at BIOSIGNALS 2022.

Unrelated Publications

- Karan, S. S., Sharma, H., Agrawal, A. K., Vemuri, K. (2023). EEG microstate analysis of tippinch and wrist flexion/extension movement. Brain Topography – **Under Review**
- Karan, S. S., Sharma, H., Agrawal, A. K., Vemuri, K. (2022). "Investigation of microstates from EEG signals of tip-pinch and wrist flexion/extension movement" Accepted at SAN2022.

Bibliography

- Adams, M. A., Dolan, P. Hutton, W. C. 1988. The Lumbar Spine in Backward Bending. Spine, 13, 1019-1026.
- Aframian, A., Auvinet, E., Iranpour, F., Barker, T., Barrett, D. (2020, February). Single-cameramarker-less motion capture: novel low-cost, accurate range-of-motion analysis system on a handheld smartphone allows patient-specific treatment and remote follow-up for outcome mon-itoring. In Orthopaedic Proceedings (Vol. 102, No. *SUPP*₁, pp. 36-36). The British Editorial Society of Bone Joint Surgery.
- Ahmadi, A. et al., 2009. Kinematic analysis of dynamic lumbar motion in patients with lumbar segmental instability using digital videofluoroscopy. European spine journal, 18(11), pp.1677–85.
- Alberto Menache. 2000. Understanding motion capture for computer animation and video games. Morgan kaufmann
- Al-Eisa, E., Egan, D., Deluzio, K. Wassersug, R. 2006. Effects of pelvic asymmetry and low back pain on trunk kinematics during sitting: a comparison with standing. Spine, 31, E135-43.
- Alejandro Newell, Kaiyu Yang, and Jia Deng. 2016. Stacked Hourglass Networks for Human Pose Estimation. In European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV).
- Allbrook, D., 1957. Movements of the lumbar spinal column. The journal of bone and joint surgery, 39 B(2), pp.339–345.
- An, K. N., Jacobsen, M. C., Berglund, L. J. Chao, E. Y. S. 1988. Application of a magnetic tracking device to kinesiologic studies. Journal of Biomechanics, 21, 613- 620.
- Andersen, L. B., Wedderkopp, N., Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2006). Association between back pain and physical fitness in adolescents. Spine, 31(15), 1740-1744.
- Anderst, W. J., Donaldson III, W. F., Lee, J. Y., Kang, J. D. (2014). Continuous cervical spine kinematics during in vivo dynamic flexion-extension. The Spine Journal, 14(7), 1221-1227.
- Bauer, C. M., Rast, F. M., Ernst, M. J., Oetiker, S., Meichtry, A., Kool, J., ... Kankaanpää, M. (2015). Pain intensity attenuates movement control of the lumbar spine in low back pain. Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 25(6), 919-927.

- Beaudette, S. M., Briar, K. J., Mavor, M. P., Graham, R. B. (2020). The effect of head and gaze orientation on spine kinematics during forward flexion. Human Movement Science, 70, 102590.
- Besier, T. F., Lloyd, D. G., Ackland, T. R. (2009). Muscle activation strategies at the knee during running and cutting maneuvers. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 41(4), 742-754.
- Bible, J. E., Biswas, D., Miller, C. P., Whang, P. G., Grauer, J. N. (2010). Normal functional range of motion of the cervical spine during 15 activities of daily living. Clinical Spine Surgery, 23(1), 15-21.
- Bible, J. E., Simpson, A. K., Emerson, J. W., Biswas, D., Grauer, J. N. (2008). Quantifying the effects of degeneration and other patient factors on lumbar segmental range of motion using multivariate analysis. Spine, 33(16), 1793-1799.
- Bogo, F., Kanazawa, A., Lassner, C., Gehler, P., Romero, J., Black, M. J. (2016, October). Keep it SMPL: Automatic estimation of 3D human pose and shape from a single image. In European conference on computer vision (pp. 561-578). Springer, Cham.
- Brenner, D.J. Hall, E.J., 2007. Computed tomography–an increasing source of radiation exposure. The New England journal of medicine, 357(22), pp.2277–84.
- Brown, M.D., Holmes, D.C. Heiner, A.D., 2002. Measurement of cadaver lumbar spine motion segment stiffness. Spine, 27(9), pp.918–22.
- Bugra Tekin, Artem Rozantsev, Vincent Lepetit, and Pascal Fua. 2016c. Direct Prediction of 3D Body Poses from Motion Compensated Sequences. In IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR).
- Bugra Tekin, Pablo Márquez-Neila, Mathieu Salzmann, and Pascal Fua. 2016b. Fusing 2D Uncertainty and 3D Cues for Monocular Body Pose Estimation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.05708 (2016).
- Bull, A. M. J. Mcgregor, A. H. 2000. Measuring spinal motion in rowers: the use of an electromagnetic device. Clinical Biomechanics, 15, 772-776.
- Burdett, R.G., Brown, K.E. Fall, M.P., 1986a. Reliability and validity of four instruments for measuring lumbar spine and pelvic positions. Physical therapy, 66(5), pp.677–84.
- Burdett, R.G., Brown, K.E. Fall, M.P., 1986b. Reliability and validity of four instruments for measuring lumbar spine and pelvic positions. Physical therapy, 66(5), pp.677–84.
- Burnett, A. F., Barrett, C. J., Marshall, R. N., Elliott, B. C. Day, R. E. 1998. Three-dimensional measurement of lumbar spine kinematics for fast bowlers in cricket. Clinical Biomechanics, 13, 574-583.

- Butler, R. J., Plisky, P. J., Southers, C., Scoma, C., Kiesel, K. B. (2010). Biomechanical analysis of the different classifications of the Functional Movement Screen deep squat test. Sports Biomechanics, 9(4), 270-279.
- Cao, Z., Simon, T., Wei, S. E., Sheikh, Y. (2017). Realtime multi-person 2d pose estimation using part affinity fields. In Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition (pp. 7291-7299).
- Carballido-Gamio, J., Belongie, S.J. Majumdar, S., 2004. Normalized cuts in 3-D for spinal MRI segmentation. IEEE transactions on medical imaging, 23(1), pp.36–44.
- Cargill, S.C., Pearcy, M. Barry, M.D., 2007. Three-dimensional lumbar spine postures measured by magnetic resonance imaging reconstruction. Spine, 32(11), pp.1242–8.
- Carsten Stoll, Nils Hasler, Juergen Gall, Hans-Peter Seidel, and Christian Theobalt. 2011. Fast articulated motion tracking using a sums of Gaussians body model. In IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV). 951–958.
- Ceseracciu, E., Sawacha, Z., Cobelli, C. (2014). Comparison of markerless and marker-based motion capture technologies through simultaneous data collection during gait: proof of concept. PloS one, 9(3), e87640.
- Chen, S. M., Liu, M. F., Cook, J., Bass, S., Lo, S. K. (2009). Sedentary lifestyle as a risk factor for low back pain: a systematic review. International archives of occupational and environmental health, 82(7), 797-806.
- Chidi-Ogbolu, N., Baar, K. (2019). Effect of estrogen on musculoskeletal performance and injury risk. Frontiers in physiology, 1834.
- Christe, G., Kade, F., Jolles, B. M., Favre, J. (2017). Chronic low back pain patients walk with locally altered spinal kinematics. Journal of biomechanics, 60, 211-218.
- Corazza, S., et al., A markerless motion capture system to study musculoskeletal biomechanics: visual hull and simulated annealing approach. Ann Biomed Eng, 2006. 34(6): p. 1019-29.
- Cotton, R. J. (2020, November). Kinematic tracking of rehabilitation patients with markerless pose estimation fused with wearable inertial sensors. In 2020 15th IEEE International Conference on Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition (FG 2020) (pp. 508-514). IEEE.
- Crawford, N. R., Yamaguchi, G. T., Dickman, C. A. (1996). Methods for determining spinal flexion/extension, lateral bending, and axial rotation from marker coordinate data: Analysis and refinement. Human Movement Science, 15(1), 55-78.
- Crosbie, J., Vachalathiti, R. Smith, R. 1997. Patterns of spinal motion during walking. Gait Posture, 5, 6-12.

- D'Lima, D. D., Patil, S., Steklov, N., Chien, S., Colwell Jr, C. W. (2007). In vivo knee moments and shear after total knee arthroplasty. Journal of biomechanics, 40, S11-S17.
- Driban, J. B., Hootman, J. M., Sitler, M. R., Harris, K. P., Cattano, N. M. (2017). Is participation in certain sports associated with knee osteoarthritis? A systematic review. Journal of athletic training, 52(6), 497-506.
- Dvoràk, J., Panjabi, M. M., Chang, D. G., Theiler, R. Grob, D. 1991. Functional Radiographic Diagnosis of the Lumbar Spine: Flexion-Extension and Lateral Bending. Spine, 16, 562-571.
- Eldar Insafutdinov, Leonid Pishchulin, Bjoern Andres, Mykhaylo Andriluka, and Bernt Schiele. 2016. DeeperCut: A Deeper, Stronger, and Faster Multi-Person Pose Estimation Model. In European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV).
- Escamilla, R. F. (2001). Knee biomechanics of the dynamic squat exercise. Medicine science in sports exercise, 33(1), 127-141.
- Esola, M. A., Mcclure, P. W., Fitzgerald, G. K. Siegler, S. 1996. Analysis of lumbar spine and hip motion during forward bending in subjects with and without a history of low back pain. Spine, 21, 71-78.
- Evans, N. R., Hooper, G., Edwards, R., Whatling, G., Sparkes, V., Holt, C., Ahuja, S. (2013). A 3D motion analysis study comparing the effectiveness of cervical spine orthoses at restricting spinal motion through physiological ranges. European Spine Journal, 22(1), 10-15.
- Federica Bogo, Angjoo Kanazawa, Christoph Lassner, Peter Gehler, Javier Romero, and Michael J. Black. 2016. Keep it SMPL: Automatic Estimation of 3D Human Pose and Shape from a Single Image. In European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV).
- Feng, M., Liang, L., Sun, W., Liu, G. W., Yin, X., Han, T., ... Zhu, L. (2019). Measurements of cervical range of motion using an optical motion capture system: Repeatability and validity. Experimental and therapeutic medicine, 18(6), 4193-4202.
- Flanagan, S. D., Salem, G. J., Wang, M. Y. (2008). The effects of weightlifting shoes on the kinetics and kinematics of the back squat. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 22(3), 659-667.
- Fritz, J.M., Piva, S.R. Childs, J.D., 2005. Accuracy of the clinical examination to predict radiographic instability of the lumbar spine. European spine journal, 14(8), pp.743–50.
- Frobin, W. et al., 1996. Precision measurement of segmental motion from flexionextension radiographs of the lumbar spine. Clinical biomechanics, 11(8), pp.457–465.
- Fry, A. C., Smith, J. C., Schilling, B. K. (2003). Effect of knee position on hip and knee torques during the barbell squat. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 17(4), 629-633.

- Fujii, R. et al., 2007. Kinematics of the lumbar spine in trunk rotation: in vivo three-dimensional analysis using magnetic resonance imaging. European spine journal, 16(11), pp.1867–74.
- Fujimori, T., Iwasaki, M., Nagamoto, Y., Matsuo, Y., Ishii, T., Sugiura, T., ... Yoshikawa, H. (2014). Kinematics of the thoracic spine in trunk lateral bending: in vivo three-dimensional analysis. The Spine Journal, 14(9), 1991-1999.
- Fujita, E., Kanehisa, H., Yoshitake, Y. A. S. U. H. I. D. E., Fukunaga, T., Nishizono, H. (2011). Association between knee extensor strength and EMG activities during squat movement. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 43(12), 2328-2334.
- Fukuda, T. Y., Rossetto, F. M., Magalhães, E., Bryk, F. F., Lucareli, P. R. (2010). Do vertical ground reaction force and loading rate during jumping and landing tasks predict anterior cruciate ligament injury risk? A systematic review and meta-analysis. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 38(11), 2186-2194.
- Gabel, C. P., Mokhtarinia, H. R., Hoffman, J., Osborne, J., Laakso, E. L., Melloh, M. (2018). Does the performance of five back-associated exercises relate to the presence of low back pain? A cross-sectional observational investigation in regional Australian council workers. BMJ open, 8(8), e020946.
- Ganesan, S., Acharya, A. S., Chauhan, R., Acharya, S. (2017). Prevalence and risk factors for low back pain in 1,355 young adults: a cross-sectional study. Asian spine journal, 11(4), 610.
- Ghasemi, M., Arjmand, N. (2021). Spinal segment ranges of motion, movement coordination, and three-dimensional kinematics during occupational activities in normal-weight and obese individuals. Journal of Biomechanics, 123, 110539.
- Ghezelbash, F., Shirazi-Adl, A., Arjmand, N., El-Ouaaid, Z., Plamondon, A. (2016). Subjectspecific biomechanics of trunk: musculoskeletal scaling, internal loads and intradiscal pressure estimation. Biomechanics and modeling in mechanobiology, 15(6), 1699-1712.
- Ghezelbash, F., Shirazi-Adl, A., Plamondon, A., Arjmand, N., Parnianpour, M. (2017). Obesity and obesity shape markedly influence spine biomechanics: a subject-specific risk assessment model. Annals of biomedical engineering, 45(10), 2373-2382.
- Gombatto, S. P., Collins, D. R., Sahrmann, S. A., Engsberg, J. R., Van Dillen, L. R. (2007). Patterns of lumbar region movement during trunk lateral bending in 2 subgroups of people with low back pain. Physical Therapy, 87(4), 441-454.
- Gorsuch, J., Long, J., Miller, K., Primeau, K., Rutledge, S., Sossong, A., Durocher, J. J. (2013). The effect of squat depth on multiarticular muscle activation in collegiate cross-country runners. The Journal of Strength Conditioning Research, 27(9), 2619-2625.

- Graci, V., Van Dillen, L. R., Salsich, G. B. (2012). Gender differences in trunk, pelvis and lower limb kinematics during a single leg squat. Gait posture, 36(3), 461-466.
- Guidetti, L., Placentino, U., Baldari, C. (2017). Reliability and criterion validity of the smartphone inclinometer application to quantify cervical spine mobility. Clinical spine surgery, 30(10), E1359-E1366.
- Hale, R., Hausselle, J. G., Gonzalez, R. V. (2014). A preliminary study on the differences in male and female muscle force distribution patterns during squatting and lunging maneuvers. Computers in biology and medicine, 52, 57-65.
- Harada, M., Abumi, K., Ito, M. Kaneda, K. 2000. Cineradiographic Motion Analysis of Normal Lumbar Spine During Forward and Backward Flexion. Spine, 25, 1932-1937.
- Hassan, E. A., Jenkyn, T. R. Dunning, C. E. 2007. Direct comparison of kinematic data collected using an electromagnetic tracking system versus a digital optical system. Journal of Biomechanics, 40, 930-935.
- Hernandez, A., Gross, K., Gombatto, S. (2017). Differences in lumbar spine and lower extremity kinematics during a step down functional task in people with and people without low back pain. Clinical Biomechanics, 47, 46-52.
- Hoseinifar, M., Ghiasi, F., Akbari, A. (2007). The relationship between lumbar and thoracic curves with body mass index and low back pain in students of Zahedan University of Medical Sciences.J Med Sci,7(6), 984-90.
- Huang, S.-H. et al., 2009. Learning-based vertebra detection and iterative normalized-cut segmentation for spinal MRI. IEEE transactions on medical imaging, 28(10), pp.1595–605.
- Ignasiak, D., Rüeger, A., Ferguson, S. J. (2017). Multi-segmental thoracic spine kinematics measured dynamically in the young and elderly during flexion. Human movement science, 54, 230-239.
- Ishii, T., Mukai, Y., Hosono, N., Sakaura, H., Fujii, R., Nakajima, Y., ... Sugamoto, K. (2006). Kinematics of the Cervical Spine in Lateral Bending: In Vivo: Three-Dimensional Analysis. Spine, 31(2), 155-160.
- Ishii, T., Mukai, Y., Hosono, N., Sakaura, H., Nakajima, Y., Sato, Y., ... Yoshikawa, H. (2004). Kinematics of the Upper Cervical Spine in Rotation: In Vivo: Three-Dimensional Analysis. Spine, 29(7), E139-E144.
- Ita Lifshitz, Ethan Fetaya, and Shimon Ullman. 2016. Human Pose Estimation using Deep Consensus Voting. In European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV).

- Jonathan J Tompson, Arjun Jain, Yann LeCun, and Christoph Bregler. 2014. Joint training of a convolutional network and a graphical model for human pose estimation. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS). 1799–1807.
- Kaigle, A.M. et al., 1992. A method for the intravital measurement of interspinous kinematics. Journal of biomechanics, 25(4), pp.451–456.
- Kim, S. H., Kwon, O. Y., Park, K. N., Jeon, I. C., Weon, J. H. (2015). Lower extremity strength and the range of motion in relation to squat depth. Journal of human kinetics, 45(1), 59-69.
- Kim, S., Miller, M., Tallarico, A., Helder, S., Liu, Y., Lee, S. (2021). Relationships between physical characteristics and biomechanics of lower extremity during the squat. Journal of Exercise Science Fitness, 19(4), 269-277.
- Kolotouros, N., Pavlakos, G., Jayaraman, D., Daniilidis, K. (2021). Probabilistic modeling for human mesh recovery. In Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF International Conference on Computer Vision (pp. 11605-11614).
- Laird, R. A., Gilbert, J., Kent, P., Keating, J. L. (2014). Comparing lumbo-pelvic kinematics in people with and without back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC musculoskeletal disorders, 15(1), 1-13.
- Lansade, C., Laporte, S., Thoreux, P., Rousseau, M. A., Skalli, W., Lavaste, F. (2009). Threedimensional analysis of the cervical spine kinematics: effect of age and gender in healthy subjects. Spine, 34(26), 2900-2906.
- Larson, D. J., Wang, Y., Zwambag, D. P., Brown, S. H. (2019). Characterizing local dynamic stability of lumbar spine sub-regions during repetitive trunk flexion-extension movements. Frontiers in Sports and Active Living, 1, 48.
- Lavaste F. Biomécanique du rachis. In: Cahiers d'Enseignements de la SOFCOT. Paris: Expansion Scientifique Publications; 1997.
- Leardini, A., Biagi, F., Merlo, A., Belvedere, C., Benedetti, M. G. (2011). Multi-segment trunk kinematics during locomotion and elementary exercises. Clinical Biomechanics, 26(6), 562-571.
- Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2000). Body weight and low back pain: a systematic literature review of 56 journal articles reporting on 65 epidemiologic studies. Spine, 25(2), 226.
- Lee, R. Y., Wong, T. K. (2002). Relationship between the movements of the lumbar spine and hip. Human movement science, 21(4), 481-494.
- Lemmers, G. P. G., Heijmans, M. W. M., Scafoglieri, A., Buyl, R., Staal, J. B., Schmitt, M. A., Cattrysse, E. (2018). Three-dimensional kinematics of the cervical spine using an electromagnetic

tracking device. Differences between healthy subjects and subjects with non-specific neck pain and the effect of age. Clinical Biomechanics, 54, 111-117.

- Leonid Pishchulin, Mykhaylo Andriluka, Peter Gehler, and Bernt Schiele. 2013. Strong appearance and expressive spatial models for human pose estimation. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision. 3487–3494
- Li, G., Wang, S., Passias, P., Xia, Q., Li, G., Wood, K. (2009). Segmental in vivo vertebral motion during functional human lumbar spine activities. European spine journal, 18(7), 1013-1021.
- List, R., Gülay, T., Stoop, M., Lorenzetti, S. (2013). Kinematics of the trunk and the lower extremities during restricted and unrestricted squats. The Journal of Strength Conditioning Research, 27(6), 1529-1538.
- Looker, A. C. (2002). The skeleton, race, and ethnicity. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology Metabolism, 87(7), 3047-3050.
- Lubomir Bourdev and Jitendra Malik. 2009. Poselets: Body part detectors trained using 3d human pose annotations. In IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV). 1365–1372.
- McLean, S. G., Walker, K., Ford, K. R., Myer, G. D., Hewett, T. E., van den Bogert, A. J. (2005). Evaluation of a two dimensional analysis method as a screening and evaluation tool for anterior cruciate ligament injury. British journal of sports medicine, 39(6), 355-362.
- Mehta, D., Sotnychenko, O., Mueller, F., Xu, W., Elgharib, M., Fua, P., ... Theobalt, C. (2020). XNect: Real-time multi-person 3D motion capture with a single RGB camera. Acm Transactions On Graphics (TOG), 39(4), 82-1.
- Merriaux, P., Dupuis, Y., Boutteau, R., Vasseur, P., Savatier, X. (2017). A study of vicon system positioning performance. Sensors, 17(7), 1591.
- Microsoft Corporation. 2010. Kinect for Xbox 360. http://www.xbox.com/en-US/ xbox-360/accessories/kinect. (2010).
- Microsoft Corporation. 2013. Kinect for Xbox One. http://www.xbox.com/en-US/ xbox-one/accessories/kinect. (2013).
- Microsoft Corporation. 2015. Kinect SDK. https://developer.microsoft.com/en-us/ windows/kinect. (2015).
- Mills, P. M., Morrison, S., Lloyd, D. G. Barrett, R. S. 2007. Repeatability of 3D gait kinematics obtained from an electromagnetic tracking system during treadmill locomotion. Journal of Biomechanics, 40, 1504-1511.

- Milne, A. D., Chess, D. G., Johnson, J. A. King, G. J. W. 1996. Accuracy of an electromagnetic tracking device: A study of the optimal operating range and metal interference. Journal of Biomechanics, 29, 791-793.
- Mündermann, L., Corazza, S., Andriacchi, T. P. (2006). The evolution of methods for the capture of human movement leading to markerless motion capture for biomechanical applications. Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation, 3(1), 1-11.
- Mündermann, L., Corazza, S., Chaudhari, A. M., Andriacchi, T. P., Sundaresan, A., Chellappa, R. (2006, January). Measuring human movement for biomechanical applications using marker-less motion capture. In Three-dimensional image capture and applications VII (Vol. 6056, p. 60560R). International Society for Optics and Photonics.
- Muriuki, M. G., Havey, R. M., Voronov, L. I., Carandang, G., Zindrick, M. R., Lorenz, M. A., ... Patwardhan, A. G. (2016). Effects of motion segment level, Pfirrmann intervertebral disc degeneration grade and gender on lumbar spine kinematics. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 34(8), 1389-1398.
- Nagymáté, G., Kiss, R. M. (2018). Application of OptiTrack motion capture systems in human movement analysis: A systematic literature review. Recent Innovations in Mechatronics, 5(1.), 1-9.
- Negrini, S., Piovanelli, B., Amici, C., Cappellini, V., Bovi, G., Ferrarin, M., ... Borboni, A. (2016). Trunk motion analysis: a systematic review from a clinical and methodological perspective. European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 52(4), 583-592.
- Nigg, B. M. (2007). Biomechanics of the musculo-skeletal system. John Wiley Sons Incorporated.
- Ochia, R. et al., 2006. Three-dimensional in vivo measurement of lumbar spine segmental motion. Spine, 31(18), pp.2073–2078.
- Onyemaechi, N. O., Anyanwu, G. E., Obikili, E. N., Onwuasoigwe, O., Nwankwo, O. E. (2016). Impact of overweight and obesity on the musculoskeletal system using lumbosacral angles. Patient preference and adherence, 10, 291.
- Oyakhire, M. O., Oghenemavwe, L. E., Agi, C. E. (2021). Influence of age, body mass index and waist-hip ratio on the human spine; a radiographic study of adult male subjects in Port Harcourt-Nigeria.
- Panjabi, M. M., White III, A. A. (1980). Basic biomechanics of the spine. Neurosurgery, 7(1), 76-93.

- Paoli, A., Marcolin, G., Petrone, N. (2009). The effect of stance width on the electromyographical activity of eight superficial thigh muscles during back squat with different bar loads. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 23(1), 246-250.
- Papi, E., Bull, A. M., McGregor, A. H. (2019). Spinal segments do not move together predictably during daily activities. Gait Posture, 67, 277-283.
- Pavlova, A. V., Muthuri, S. G., Cooper, R., Saunders, F. R., Gregory, J. S., Barr, R. J., ... Aspden, R. M. (2018). Body mass index and waist circumference in early adulthood are associated with thoracolumbar spine shape at age 60-64: The Medical Research Council National Survey of Health and Development. Plos one, 13(6), e0197570.
- Pearcy, M. J. Hindle, R. J. 1989. New method for the non-invasive three-dimensional measurement of human back movement. Clinical Biomechanics, 4, 73-79.
- Pearcy, M. J., Gill, J. M., Whittle, M. W., Johnson, G. R. (1987). Dynamic back movement measured using a three-dimensional television system. Journal of biomechanics, 20(10), 943-949.
- Pearcy, M. J., Portek, I. Shepherd, J. 1985. THE EFFECT OF LOW-BACK-PAIN ON LUMBAR SPINAL MOVEMENTS MEASURED BY 3-DIMENSIONAL X-RAYANALYSIS. Spine, 10, 150-153
- Pearcy, Mark J. Bogduk, N., 1988. Instantaneous axes of rotation of the lumbar intervertebral joints. Spine, 13(9), pp.1033–1041.
- Pedro F Felzenszwalb and Daniel P Huttenlocher. 2005. Pictorial structures for object recognition. International Journal of Computer Vision (IJCV) 61, 1 (2005), 55–79.
- Pedro F Felzenszwalb, Ross B Girshick, David McAllester, and Deva Ramanan. 2010. Object detection with discriminatively trained part-based models. In IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence. IEEE, 1627–1645.
- Pourahmadi, M. R., Bagheri, R., Taghipour, M., Takamjani, I. E., Sarrafzadeh, J., Mohseni-Bandpei, M. A. (2018). A new iPhone application for measuring active craniocervical range of motion in patients with non-specific neck pain: a reliability and validity study. The Spine Journal, 18(3), 447-457.
- Puthenveetil, S. C., Daphalapurkar, C. P., Zhu, W., Leu, M. C., Liu, X. F., Chang, A. M., ... Snodgrass, S. D. (2013, August). Comparison of marker-based and marker-less systems for low-cost human motion capture. In International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and Information in Engineering Conference (Vol. 55867, p. V02BT02A036). American Society of Mechanical Engineers.

- Ranavolo, A., Don, R., Draicchio, F., Bartolo, M., Serrao, M., Padua, L., ... Sandrini, G. (2013). Modelling the spine as a deformable body: Feasibility of reconstruction using an optoelectronic system. Applied Ergonomics, 44(2), 192-199.
- Robertson, J. V., Roby-Brami, A. (2011). The trunk as a part of the kinematic chain for reaching movements in healthy subjects and hemiparetic patients. Brain research, 1382, 137-146.
- Saifuddin, A., Blease, S., MacSweeney, E. (2003). Axial loaded MRI of the lumbar spine. Clinical radiology, 58(9), 661-671.
- Sati, M., et al., Quantitative assessment of skin-bone movement at the knee. The Knee. 3(3): p. 121-138.
- Savic, S. P., Devedzic, G., Ristic, B., Matic, A., Prodanovic, N., Stojanovic, R. (2018, June). Clinical application of a portable motion capture system: A methodology. In 2018 7th Mediterranean Conference on Embedded Computing (MECO) (pp. 1-4). IEEE.
- Schinkel-Ivy, A., Drake, J. D. (2015). Which motion segments are required to sufficiently characterize the kinematic behavior of the trunk?. Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 25(2), 239-246.
- Schinkel-Ivy, A., Nairn, B. C., Drake, J. D. (2013). Evaluation of methods for the quantification of the flexion-relaxation phenomenon in the lumbar erector spinae muscles. Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics, 36(6), 349-358.
- Schmid, J. Magnenat-Thalmann, N., 2008. MRI bone segmentation using deformable models and shape priors. Medical image computing and computer-assisted intervention: MICCAI, 11(Pt 1), pp.119–26.
- Schmid, S., Bruhin, B., Ignasiak, D., Romkes, J., Taylor, W. R., Ferguson, S. J., ... Lorenzetti, S. (2017). Spinal kinematics during gait in healthy individuals across different age groups. Human movement science, 54, 73-81.
- Schmid, S., Connolly, L., Moschini, G., Meier, M. L., Senteler, M. (2021). Skin marker-based subject-specific spinal alignment modeling: A feasibility study. arXiv preprint arXiv:2101.12272.
- Schmitz, A., Ye, M., Boggess, G., Shapiro, R., Yang, R., Noehren, B. (2015). The measurement of in vivo joint angles during a squat using a single camera markerless motion capture system as compared to a marker based system. Gait posture, 41(2), 694-698.
- Scholtes, S. A., Gombatto, S. P., Van Dillen, L. R. (2009). Differences in lumbopelvic motion between people with and people without low back pain during two lower limb movement tests. Clinical Biomechanics, 24(1), 7-12.

- Sedrez, J. A., Furlanetto, T. S., Gelain, G. M., Candotti, C. T. (2020). Validity and Reliability of Smartphones in Assessing Spinal Kinematics: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics, 43(6), 635-645.
- Severijns, P., Overbergh, T., Schmid, S., Moke, L., Scheys, L. (2021). Spinal Palpation Error and Its Impact on Skin Marker-Based Spinal Alignment Measurement in Adult Spinal Deformity. Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology, 9.
- Severijns, P., Overbergh, T., Thauvoye, A., Baudewijns, J., Monari, D., Moke, L., ... Scheys, L. (2020). A subject-specific method to measure dynamic spinal alignment in adult spinal deformity. The Spine Journal, 20(6), 934-946.
- Shih-En Wei, Varun Ramakrishna, Takeo Kanade, and Yaser Sheikh. 2016. Convolutional Pose Machines. In Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR).
- Shum, G. L. K., Crosbie, J. Lee, R. Y. W. 2005a. Effect of low back pain on the kinematics and joint coordination of the lumbar spine and hip during sit-to-stand and stand-to-sit. Spine, 30, 1998-2004.
- Shum, G. L. K., Crosbie, J. Lee, R. Y. W. 2005b. Symptomatic and asymptomatic movement coordination of the lumbar spine and hip during an everyday activity. Spine, 30, E697-E702.
- Shum, G. L. K., Crosbie, J. Lee, R. Y. W. 2007a. Movement coordination of the lumbar spine and hip during a picking up activity in low back pain subjects. European Spine Journal, 16, 749-758.
- Sirajudeen, M. S., Chinnakalai, T., Suhail, M., Al-Hussinan, N.M., Pillai, P.S. (2020). Reliability of the Flexible Ruler in Measuring Lumbar Lordosis among Children. Journal of Clinical Diagnostic Research, 14(11).
- Skalli, W., Lavaste, F., Descrimes, J. L. (1995). Quantification of three-dimensional vertebral rotations in scoliosis: what are the true values?. Spine, 20(5), 546-553.
- Sophia Fox, A. J., Bedi, A., Rodeo, S. A. (2009). The basic science of articular cartilage: structure, composition, and function. Sports health, 1(6), 461-468.
- Spoor, C. W., Veldpaus, F. E. (1980). Rigid body motion calculated from spatial co-ordinates of markers. Journal of biomechanics, 13(4), 391-393.
- Standring, S., Ellis, H., Healy, J., Johnson, D., Williams, A., Collins, P., Wigley, C. (2005). Gray's anatomy: the anatomical basis of clinical practice. American journal of neuroradiology, 26(10), 2703.
- Strickland, C.G. et al., 2011. Development of subject-specific geometric spine model through use of automated active contour segmentation and kinematic constraintlimited registration. Journal of digital imaging, 24(5), pp.926–42.

- Stuart, M. J., Meglan, D. A., Lutz, G. E., Growney, E. S., An, K. N. (1996). Comparison of intersegmental tibiofemoral joint forces and muscle activity during various closed kinetic chain exercises. The American journal of sports medicine, 24(6), 792-799.
- Sung, P. S., Spratt, K. F., Wilder, D. G. (2004). A possible methodological flaw in comparing dominant and nondominant sided lumbar spine muscle responses without simultaneously considering hand dominance. Spine, 29(17), 1914-1922.
- Suter, M., Eichelberger, P., Frangi, J., Simonet, E., Baur, H., Schmid, S. (2020). Measuring lumbar back motion during functional activities using a portable strain gauge sensor-based system: A comparative evaluation and reliability study. Journal of biomechanics, 100, 109593
- Swain, C. T., Whyte, D. G., Ekegren, C. L., Taylor, P., McMaster, K., Dow, C. L., Bradshaw, E. J. (2019). Multi-segment spine kinematics: Relationship with dance training and low back pain. Gait posture, 68, 274-279.
- Tafazzol, A., Arjmand, N., Shirazi-Adl, A., Parnianpour, M. (2014). Lumbopelvic rhythm during forward and backward sagittal trunk rotations: combined in vivo measurement with inertial tracking device and biomechanical modeling. Clinical Biomechanics, 29(1), 7-13.
- Taweetanalarp, S., Purepong, N. (2015). Comparison of lumbar spinal angle between normal body mass index and overweight young adults. Journal of physical therapy science, 27(7), 2343-2346.
- Taylor, W. R., Consmüller, T., Rohlmann, A. (2010). A novel system for the dynamic assessment of back shape. Medical engineering physics, 32(9), 1080-1083.
- Teyhen, D.S. et al., 2007. Fluoroscopic video to identify aberrant lumbar motion. Spine, 32(7), pp.E220–9.
- Thomas B. Moeslund, Adrian Hilton, and Volker KrÃijger. 2006. A Survey of Advances in Vision-based Human Motion Capture and Analysis. CVIU 104, 2–3 (2006), 90–126.
- Thomas, J. S., Corcos, D. M., Hasan, Z. (1998). The influence of gender on spine, hip, knee, and ankle motions during a reaching task. Journal of motor behavior, 30(2), 98-103.
- Van Daele, U., Hagman, F., Truijen, S., Vorlat, P., Van Gheluwe, B. Vaes, P. 2009. Differences in Balance Strategies Between Nonspecific Chronic Low Back Pain Patients and Healthy Control Subjects During Unstable Sitting. Spine, 34, 1233-1238 10.1097/BRS.0b013e31819ca3ee.
- Van Herp, G., Rowe, P., Salter, P. Paul, J. P. 2000. Three-dimensional lumbar spinal kinematics: a study of range of movement in 100 healthy subjects aged 20 to 60+ years. Rheumatology, 39, 1337-1340.

- Vismara, L., Menegoni, F., Zaina, F., Galli, M., Negrini, S., Capodaglio, P. (2010). Effect of obesity and low back pain on spinal mobility: a cross sectional study in women. Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation, 7(1), 1-8.
- Vital, J. M., Sénégas, J., Garnier, C., Bouloussa, H. (2020). Kinematics of the Spine. In Spinal Anatomy (pp. 457-484). Springer, Cham.
- Vittorio Ferrari, Manuel Marin-Jimenez, and Andrew Zisserman. 2009. Pose search: retrieving people using their pose. In IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). 1–8.
- Wallace, D. A., Salem, G. J., Salinas, R., Powers, C. M. (2002). Patellofemoral joint kinetics while squatting with and without an external load. Journal of Orthopaedic Sports Physical Therapy, 32(4), 141-148.
- Weeks, B. K., Carty, C. P., Horan, S. A. (2015). Effect of sex and fatigue on single leg squat kinematics in healthy young adults. BMC musculoskeletal disorders, 16(1), 1-9.
- White A, Pajabi MM. Clinical biomechanics of the spine. Philadelphia: Lippincott; 1978.
- Widmer, J., Fornaciari, P., Senteler, M., Roth, T., Snedeker, J. G., Farshad, M. (2019). Kinematics of the spine under healthy and degenerative conditions: a systematic review. Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 47(7), 1491-1522.
- Windolf, M., Götzen, N., Morlock, M. (2008). Systematic accuracy and precision analysis of video motion capturing systems—exemplified on the Vicon-460 system. Journal of biomechanics, 41(12), 2776-2780.
- Woltring, H. J., Huiskes, R., De Lange, A., Veldpaus, F. E. (1985). Finite centroid and helical axis estimation from noisy landmark measurements in the study of human joint kinematics. Journal of biomechanics, 18(5), 379-389.
- Woltring, H. J., Long, K., Osterbauer, P. J., Fuhr, A. W. (1994). Instantaneous helical axis estimation from 3-D video data in neck kinematics for whiplash diagnostics. Journal of biomechanics, 27(12), 1415-1432.
- Wong, K. W., Leong, J. C., Chan, M. K., Luk, K. D., Lu, W. W. (2004). The flexion–extension profile of lumbar spine in 100 healthy volunteers. Spine, 29(15), 1636-1641.
- Wong, T. K. T. Lee, R. Y. W. 2004. Effects of low back pain on the relationship between the movements of the lumbar spine and hip. Human Movement Science, 23, 21-34.
- Xiaowei Zhou, Menglong Zhu, Spyridon Leonardos, Kosta Derpanis, and Kostas Daniilidis.
 2015b. Sparseness Meets Deepness: 3D Human Pose Estimation from Monocular Video. In IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR).

- Xiaowei Zhou, Spyridon Leonardos, Xiaoyan Hu, and Kostas Daniilidis. 2015. 3D shape estimation from 2D landmarks: A convex relaxation approach. In IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). 4447–4455.
- Xingyi Zhou, Xiao Sun, Wei Zhang, Shuang Liang, and Yichen Wei. 2016. Deep Kinematic Pose Regression. ECCV Worktp on Geometry Meets Deep Learning.
- Yang, Z., Griffith, J., Leung, P. C., Pope, M., Sun, L. W. Lee, R. 2005. The accuracy of surface measurement for motion analysis of osteoporotic thoracolumbar spine. Conference proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Conference, 7, 6871-6874.
- Yang, Z., Ma, H. T., Wang, D. Lee, R. 2008. Error analysis on spinal motion measurement using skin mounted sensors. Conference proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Conference, 2008, 4740-4743.
- Youdas, J. W., Garrett, T. R., Harmsen, S., Suman, V. J., Carey, J. R. (1996). Lumbar lordosis and pelvic inclination of asymptomatic adults. Physical therapy, 76(10), 1066-1081.
- Zander, T., Bashkuev, M., Schmidt, H. (2018). Are there characteristic motion patterns in the lumbar spine during flexion?. Journal of Biomechanics, 70, 77-81.
- Zatsiorsky VM. 1998. Kinematics of Human Motion. Pennsylvania: Human Kinetics Pub.
- Zawadka, M., Smolka, J., Skublewska-Paszkowska, M., Lukasik, E., Jablonski, M., Gawda, P. (2022). The influence of sedentary behaviour on lumbar-pelvic kinematics during squatting and forward bending among physically active students. Ergonomics, 1-12.
- Zeller, B. L., McCrory, J. L., Ben Kibler, W., Uhl, T. L. (2003). Differences in kinematics and electromyographic activity between men and women during the single-legged squat. The American journal of sports medicine, 31(3), 449-456.
- Zemp, R., List, R., Gülay, T., Elsig, J. P., Naxera, J., Taylor, W. R., Lorenzetti, S. (2014). Soft tissue artefacts of the human back: comparison of the sagittal curvature of the spine measured using skin markers and an open upright MRI. PloS one, 9(4), e95426
- Zhao, K., Yang, C., Zhao, C. F. An, K. N. 2005. Assessment of non-invasive intervertebral motion measurements in the lumbar spine. Journal of Biomechanics, 38, 1943-1946.
- Zhe Cao, Tomas Simon, Shih-En Wei, and Yaser Sheikh. 2016. Realtime Multi-Person 2D Pose Estimation using Part Affinity Fields. arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.08050 (2016).
- Zhu, X., Shin, G. (2013). Kinematics and muscle activities of the lumbar spine during and after working in stooped postures. Journal of electromyography and kinesiology, 23(4), 801-806.

• Zwambag, D. P., Beaudette, S. M., Gregory, D. E., Brown, S. H. (2018). Development of a novel technique to record 3D intersegmental angular kinematics during dynamic spine movements. Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 46(2), 298-309.

Important Responses to Reviewers

1 Please state the limitations of the study?

- Due to covid constraints, data from elderly, clinical, and off-campus residents could not be collected; furthermore, only young, healthy people participated in the study, limiting population-level inferences.
- Although the angular displacements measured by both techniques were within the specified range mentioned in (Vital et al.,2020), the participants' suit may have introduced minor inaccuracies.
- Increasing the number of mocap cameras could have further minimized the marker detection error.
- 3D human reconstruction with an RGB camera produced angular displacements comparable to those obtained with a marker-based approach, indicating that the two methods are comparable, but it is limited to capturing motion in specific exercises as we could not estimate the motion of spine axial rotations (twists).
- Lastly, we employed a single metric for physical activity, but dividing it into endurance, strength, and flexibility training might aid in determining the influence of each on spine biomechanics.

2 How study compared with other similar studies?

- Although studies of individual spinal segments have been reported (Robertson & Roby-Brami, 2011; Evans et al., 2013; Bauer et al., 2015; Anderst et al., 2014; Ignasiak et al., 2017), very few have studied intersegmental movement in the spinal column. Negrini et al(2016)'s meta-analysis of spine biomechanics studies showed that onlyfew which focusedon the whole trunk looked at the inter-intra segmental motion of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar segments. Through our study, we have explored the inter-intra segmental motion of the spine. The angular displacement of the lumbar spine for flexion, twist and the lateralbend (Lee & Wong,2002) as determined in our study lies within the reported range (Tafazzol et al.,2014;Lee & Wong,2002;Zwambag et al.,2018;review article: Widmer et al., 2019).
- Prolonged inactivity or a sedentary lifestyle increases body mass and has been associated with non-specific lower back pain in young adults (Andersen et al.,2006; Chen et al.,2009).

In a case of cause & effect, as pain increases, one tends to reduce activity, further aggravating the condition. Even with high physical activity, sitting for long hours can impact Lumbar-pelvic kinematics (Zawadka et al.,2022). To the best of our knowledge, the absence of the studies focusing on the correlation of parameters like WHR, physical activity level with angular displacement, through our study, we have explored the correlation between the kinematics of the entire spine column as a unit with BMI, WHR, and physical activity.

- Comparative analysis based on the grouping as a function of BMI or WHR as betweensubject parameters for males and females yielded mixed results, but no significant difference was observed.
- For all three exercises, the correlation between angular displacement and physical activity level was statistically significant (flexion, lateral-bend, and for a few conditions in twist). There was a statistically significant correlation between females' physical activity and flexion exercise. The absence of statistical significance in the female cohort for certain exercises could be due to the smaller sample size and the role of higher estrogen levels (Chidi-Ogbolu et al.,2019) in the age group considered and, hence, flexibility may be independent of physical characteristics or activity.
- In contrast to previous studies (Schinkel-Ivy et al., 2013; Zwambag et al., 2018), which extracted angles using multiple reference frames, we evaluated the role of multi-segments in a full range flexion, bend, and twist movement, and designed a technique-independent model by using a single reference frame in the current study which also resolves possible errors due to incorrect segment identification.
 - A single reference point/base marker is also optimal for comparing data from a markerless single RGB camera technique since the skeletal frame extracted from the camera feed represents the spinal column with 27 nodes –from C1 to lumbar/sacrum. If there is imprecision in predicting the location of nodes/spine's S-shaped curvein the estimated 3D human mesh, the error will be higher if three reference frames (for each spinal segment) are considered.

3 What is the future scope of the study?

- In future studies, more trials could be conducted with a broader range of participants (age, body mass index, WHR, and physical activity level).
- The height-spine angular displacement relationship may be clarified with the use of other physical factors such as torso-to-leg length ratio, spine 'S' curvature, and foot length (short vs. long).
- Spine-centric pose estimation models can benefit from a customized method that improves the precision of angular displacement.
- In clinics without access to equipment for restricted movement, the data can be used as a reference.

4 Why the study objective was chosen? What is novelty of the work?

- Spine biomechanics (kinetics & kinematics) is crucial to study as it plays a significant role in human activities from gross motor tasks in daily life to complex movements. Understanding the movements as supported by different trunk segments are essential for clinical diagnosis. Additionally, understanding spine dynamics is crucial for medical conditions affecting motor movements, like hemiplegia caused by a stroke, Parkinson's, lower back pain, spine injury, osteoporosis, age-related musculoskeletal flexibility, ergonomics with continued sitting, and obesity. The lumbar segment has been investigated extensively followed by thoracic, but only limited studies on the whole trunk focused on inter-intra segmental motion of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar segments. Consequently, we have studied the whole spine with respect to intra- and inter-segment motion while employing marker-based and marker-less motion capture techniques. Utility: In clinics without access to equipment for restricted movement, the data can be used as a reference.
- Prolonged inactivity or a sedentary lifestyle, which results in weight gain and has been associated with the occurrence of non-specific lower back pain in young people due to a loss of muscular power and strength, is a major risk factor (Andersen et al.,2006; Chen et al.,2009). It is a classic instance of cause and effect: when pain increases, individuals tend to slow down, further aggravating the condition. Regardless of high recreational physical activity, sitting for lengthy periods of time might still affect Lumbar-pelvic kinematics (Zawadka et al.,2022). Therefore, more research is required to determine whether or not body mass index, WHR, and physical activity all influence the kinematics of the spine.
- When it comes to biomechanical applications, human motion detection, animations, and even for military use, motion capture systems (Opti Track motion capture systems & Vicon) (Nagymáté et al., 2018) are the gold standard. There are various limitations to using this technique, including its inflexibility, expense, lengthy calibration process, need for dedicated space, and need for specially trained personnel. Analysis of marker-based mechanics can be very complex with correlations between muscle markers and those on spine. Therefore, this work introduces a novel technique/method of measuring spine angles, as incorrect skin marker positioning affects curve measurement and kinematic variability (Severijns et al., 2021).

5 Please enumerate limitations of employing "RGB camera" over other standard devices.

- Although angular displacements extracted from 3D human reconstruction with an RGB camera are comparable to those obtained with a marker-based system, the method is still constrained to capturing motion during only a subset of exercises as it was unable to provide an estimate of the motion of the spine's axial rotations (twists).
- The skeleton frame extracted from the RGB camera represents the spinal column with 27 nodes, from C1 to the lumbar/sacrum; hence having a single reference point/base marker

is also preferable when comparing data with a marker-less single RGB camera approach. If there is imprecision in predicting the location of nodes/spine's S-shaped curve in the estimated 3D human mesh, the error will be higher if three reference frames (for each spinal segment) are considered. While imaging methods with RGB camera feed is fine-tuned, the kinematics parameters need to be compared with accurate data – which marker-based camera capture can offer.

6 The premise of the first part of the study that is based on correlations between spinal motion and certain physical characteristics is not very novel and not intuitively relevant. The thesis fails to justify the reasons for finding these specific associations. The initial chapters are written well describing the various techniques available. But the document needs to have another section to describe about what is known about the variability of spinal motion across age, gender, and other flexibility measures (Beighton score / Schober test). In other words, the student should strengthen the rationale of the study and support it with literature. As the study is completed with healthy subjects, the relevance of knowing spinal motions across over- weight/ normal weight or active/sedentary individuals is not very clear. Thanks for the feedback, ma'am,

• In accordance with the guidelines outlined in section 4.1.2, the data collection for this study was conducted during the first and second waves of the Covid-19 pandemic. Consequently, we faced limitations in gathering a more diverse population, including individuals from various age groups and those with spinal disorders, and achieving a balanced gender ratio among participants. We were able to collect the data only from young and healthy participants. However, we agree that we should also include these parameters in our literature study and that we already included them in section 2.3, 2nd paragraph: "Another study on the effect of age on thoracic segments ...", and this limitation is already mentioned in section 6.2: "A few factors limit this study: due to covid restrictions, data from older, clinical, and non-campus residents could not be collected, and only young and healthy subjects participated in this experiment, limiting population-level inferences.".

- Furthermore, to the question, "The thesis fails to justify the reasons for finding these specific associations", has already been addressed in section 1.1 First paragraph of why we chose these specific parameters to study with the spine angles, and we do agree that the study the spine angles with physical parameters are not novel, but according to the literature, all these parameters have not been studied as a unit.
- 7 What is the reason for choosing these specific parameters BMI, WHR and physical activity? In my clinical practice, the ability to move the spine is far more dependent on age, gender and history of participation in sports that include flexibility exercises. The study by McClure1 (1997) and Esola2 (1996) have rightfully correlated the ability to move the spine on hamstring flexibility. Kindly justify the use of these parameters.

- We base the study on previous findings (for example: Body mass index and waist circumference in early adulthood are associated with thoracolumbar spine shape at age 60-64: The Medical Research Council National Survey of Health and Development Pavlova AV, Muthuri SG, Cooper R, Saunders FR, Gregory JS, et al. (2018) Body mass index and waist circumference in early adulthood are associated with thoracolumbar spine shape at age 60-64: The Medical Research Council National Survey of Health and Development. PLOS ONE 13(6): e0197570. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197570), on spine shape, and the work of (Taweetanalarp S, Purepong N. Comparison of lumbar spinal angle between normal body mass index and overweight young adults. J Phys Ther Sci. 2015 Jul;27(7):2343-6. doi: 10.1589/jpts.27.2343. Epub 2015 Jul 22. PMID: 26311979; PMCID: PMC4540877) on lumbar angles. While physical activity is the major factor, as also found in our study, the idea was to extend the studies on static spine analysis to kinematics. When the experiment was planned, the scope included gender age, we could not complete it due to covid restrictions for almost 2 years. Hence restricted the study to students who were staying in college and vaccinated. The long periods of no-physical activity did show an increase in BMI in some students, but we did not note the change in the 2 year period.
- 8 The details of development of LCS for each segment should be described in further detail. It is very confusing for me to understand how the single reference frame works...I am guessing that all segments are compared to the initial stance position. The numbers are difficult to interpret For example in Figure 5.3 describing the ROM while bending forwards to reach toes shows that the cervical flexion is 100 degree plus... while in reality, most people keep neck straight, bend slightly or may sometimes extend the neck (as shown in fig 5.2). Similarly the thoracic spine does not bend so much. What do these numbers mean? And if they cannot be compared with anything done previously, what is the relevance of such evaluations?

Thanks for providing the feedback,

- The single reference frame there is define to be going into spine's 12th marker's frame and calculating position vector of all the markers which respect to that marker. And at every second the angle has been calculated with respect to initial frame which is when the participant is standing upright (at t=0) as mentioned in the section 4.1.3.1.
- And as seen in the Fig 4.3 (A), the angle from the image is coming in the obtuse angle range which was expected to be around 100-120 degrees.
- As there were no study which has done the analysis like we did, we compared the ROM of lumbar region with the past studies and for the rest of the two section, we showed the ROM analysis to an orthopedic doctors (Dr. Rajendra Kumar Elluri) who suggested that as in this experiment, the participants were not asked to either keep the neck straight or extend.

- The angles estimated for the Thoracic range from 50-110 deg with the median at 70 degrees (as against the normally recorded 75 deg). As the exact position of the marker as a function of the spine column is not possible, there is a scope for error.
- But the use of a single reference to measure the ROM, allows for a quick evaluation of possible issues. Of significance it the temporal or time varying angle plots, which show the flow of a complete flexion.
- 9 Was any validity testing done prior to the experimental set up? For example, the use of 12 sensors on cloth over spine versus directly double taped over skin on spine in a sample of subjects may show how much are the errors due to clothing.
 - Yes, it is a valid observation. But for this preliminary dataset, the validation check was not done in terms of comparison with the data captured by directly placing the sensor on the skin. The tight-fitting nature of the suit worn by participants, with the minimal thickness (less than 0.5cm), ensured close proximity of the sensors to the skin. Hence the error which was introduced due to this was predicted to be very small as the angles estimated was within the range as mentioned in the section 6.2: "Although the angular displacements, estimated by both techniques, were in the predetermined range mentioned in (Vital et al., 2020), the suit worn by the participants introduces small errors.".
 - We had two issues, one participant's discomfort for any marker directly on the skin and giving data with a shirt or shorts. Hence, we used tight swimming suits.
- 10 The figure 4.3 shows the subject performing a full deep squat. But the data presented in Figure 4.23/24 and 5.13 shows that the maximum hip flexion is about 60-70 degrees. This is surprising knowing that the hip bends to almost >120 degrees for a full squat. Kindly comment and clarify. This was the most intuitive number to me as visually/ by goniometry, it is possible to measure hip ROM. Similar numbers for spine movement are not intuitive as they are difficult to be measured visually. The student may please provide data from previous studies measuring spine movement and compare the results of current study with them. There is ample literature for cervical and lumbar motion analysis.

Thanks for the feedback,

- Agree that the person in the image is doing the deep squat and the hip flexion should be in the range obtuse angle, but as mentioned in our methodology section of calculating the hip flexion and the theta angle shown in the image, the reference to calculate the hip flexion was the 12th sensor on spine not the hip joint sensor, hence the angle value came in the range 60-70 degrees. The displacement distance of the reference marker to the ground was considered as relevant for our study.
- And as mentioned in the above responses and in our literature, the comparison to lumbar was done in the interpretation section. The use of single-reference frame gave a medium

value (70 deg) which is reported for thoracic in literature. For cervical our method showed a median of 80 degree, while literature reports 80-90 deg for flexion.

- 11 Analyzing the axial rotation in global reference frame means that the rotation of the person is a sum total of rotations at the hip, ankle and spine. It should be called full body twist/rotation and not simply spine rotation.
 - Thanks for the feedback, yes, analyzing axial rotation in a global reference frame consider to be the rotation of the person's as the combination of hip, ankle and spine, but the global reference frame in motion capture tracking is with respect to the markers on the spine and hence the same nomenclature was applied. In the next set of experiments, we will be placing markers on the muscles too.